Understanding the Challenges of Language Use in Veterans' Transition to Civilian Life in Higher Education

by

Naji Obaid

A Dissertation Presented in Partial Fulfillment of the Requirements for the Degree Doctor of Philosophy

Approved April 2022 by the Graduate Supervisory Committee:

Aya Matsuda, Chair David Smith Mark James

ARIZONA STATE UNIVERSITY

May 2022

ABSTRACT

Transitioning into civilian life after military service is a challenging prospect. It can be difficult to find employment and maintain good mental health, and up to 70 percent of veterans experience homelessness or alcoholism. Upon discharge, many veterans pursue higher education as a way to reintegrate into civilian society. However, many studies have shown that veterans encounter multiple challenges during their attempt to reintegrate into civilian life, including anxiety, a lack of relevant skills, posttraumatic stress disorder (PTSD), and other issues that may lead to communication and interaction challenges in the higher education environment. Student veterans also face challenges in the lack of common language and culture clashes due to differences between military and college culture. This study used a mixed-methods approach to examine the challenges military veterans face related to language use in civilian life. The data was collected from 149 student veterans who completed a questionnaire and 11 student veterans who participated in interviews. Detailed analysis of collected data showed that student veterans experienced some challenges in language use, especially when they initially enrolled in their courses, but they seemed to have overcome challenges after spending time in the university setting. The veterans who had prior college education before joining the military seemed to have a slight advantage, having had experience using the academic language. The study also explored how student veterans chose to share their veteran status with other people in their university community. The findings showed that they strongly identified with their veteran identity and was comfortable sharing their status with others, but they also sometimes were

reluctant to share their military experience in details because they were afraid that their peers would not understand.

DEDICATION

I dedicate my dissertation work to my family and many friends. A special feeling of gratitude to my loving parents, my dad who passed away before I finished my dissertation, to my mom who always kept me in her prayers and whose words of encouragement and push for tenacity ring in my ears, and to my brothers and sisters.

I also dedicate this dissertation to my many friends and Islamic center family who have supported me throughout the process.

I dedicate this work and give special thanks to my wonderful wife, son, and daughter for being there for me throughout the entire doctorate program. All of you have been my best cheerleaders.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

Undertaking this PhD has been a truly life-changing experience for me, and it would not have been possible to do without the support and guidance that I received from many people.

First and foremost, I would like to express my gratitude and appreciation to the men and women who sacrifice their life to protect this country, our heroes, veterans who participated in this research and generously gave their time to share their stories, ideas, and experiences with me. Without you, this study could never have been possible.

My deepest gratitude goes to my supervisor, Dr. Aya Matsuda, who has always inspired and supported me to continue and eventually finish my research work. Without her thoughtful comments and insightful questions on this work and continuous help at every step of the PhD program, it would not have been possible for me to do this kind of research.

I would also like express my appreciation to my Supervisory Committee who offered me unlimited time, energy, guidance, and assurance. To Dr. Mark James for your thoughtful and sharp analytic comments. A special thanks to Dr. Mark Smith for his willingness to join my Supervisory Committee. Dr. Smith, thank you for your immediate feedback in short timeframes and your timely help. I also want to thank the Pat Tillman Veterans Center members for the enormous contribution they made to my work through sharing their extensive and profound knowledge and experience in the area of veterans transitioning. I could not have come to this stage without their continuous support, insightful ideas, and professionalism.

I greatly appreciate the program manager Ms. Sheila Luna, who supported me from the first day I enrolled at ASU. Ms. Sheila, thank you very much for your support and your encouragement.

Special thanks to my family, my wife who stood with me during this tough time and my wonderful kids, my son Abbas and my daughter Raneem, for the love I received from them and making it possible for me to complete what I started.

Finally, I would like to thank my dear friends Aria Vallejo-Ortega and Leila Gholami for their support. They were always so helpful and provided me with their assistance throughout my dissertation.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Page
LIST OF TABLESx
INTRODUCTION
Background of the Study
Statement of the Problem
Purpose of the Study
Implications of the Study
Research Questions
Summary10
2 LITERATURE REVIEW AND THEORETICAL FRAMEWORKS 12
Literature Review
Military and Higher Education History in the United States
From History to Present
Student Veterans and Their Experiences
Unique Characteristics of Student Veterans
Difference between Military and College Life
Challenges Faced in the Higher Education Environment
Challenges in Language Use Faced by Student Veterans
Theoretical Framework: Language Socialization
Use of Language Socialization in Language Acquisition and Transition to a New
Environment
The Appropriateness of Language Socialization as a Theoretical Framework37

	Page
The Role of Identity in Socialization and Language Use	41
Summary	42
3 RESEARCH METHODOLOGY AND DESIGN	45
Recruitment of Participants	47
Data Collection Instruments	48
Quantitative Data Collection and Analysis	49
Qualitative Data Collection and Analysis	49
Assumptions	50
Ethical Considerations	51
Researcher Positionality	51
Summary	52
4 RESULTS	53
Demographic Information	53
Gender	53
Age	54
Branch of Service	55
Length of Service in the Military	56
Prior College Experience before Military Service	56
Presentation of Quantitative Data	57
Classroom Communication in General	59
Interactions with Peers	63
Interaction with Instructors	64

		Page
	Answers to Research Question 2	68
	Qualitative Data	73
	Research Question 1	73
	Research Question 2	77
	Summary	80
5 I	DISCUSSION	82
	Research Question 1	82
	Research Question 2	89
	Summary	92
5 (CONCLUSION	93
	Limitations of the Study and Suggestions for Future Research	94
	Number of Participants	94
	Target Population	95
	Self-Reported Data	95
	Questionnaire Design	95
	Study on the Resource Center	96
	Summary	96
RE	EFERENCES	98
ΑI	PPENDIX	
	A IRB APPROVAL LETTER	110
	B INTERVIEW CONSENT FORM	113
	C SURVEY LETTER	116

	Page
D SURVEY QUESTIONS	118
E INTERVIEW QUESTIONS	125

LIST OF TABLES

Table	Page
1	What Is Your Gender?
2	What Is Your Age?55
3	What Is Your Branch of Service?
4	How Long Did You Serve in the Military?56
5	Did You Have Prior College Experience Before Serving in the Military?56
6	Q1 - As a Recent Veteran, Starting Classes at ASU Was a Big Adjustment for Me 57
7	Q2 - Before Starting Classes, I Wondered If I Had Enough Academic Skills and
	Knowledge to Do Well at ASU
8	Q3 - I Am Confident That I Am Using Appropriate Academic Vocabulary in My
	Classes
9	Q5 - I Generally Understand Academic Concepts in Written Texts for My Classes
	59
10	Q6 - My Non-veteran Classmates Understand the Comments I Make in Class60
11	Q7 - I Often Worry That My Comments in Class Discussions Are Not Clear to Non-
	veteran Students
12	Q17 - I Communicate Effectively in Class
13	Q16 - I Feel Included in Class Discussions
14	Q11 - I Often Speak to Fellow Students During Class, Either to Discuss Course
	Material or to Have Informal Conversations
15	Q12 - I Often Communicate with Fellow Students Outside of Class, Either to
	Discuss Course Material or to Have Informal Communication

Table	Page
16	Q14 - I Am Comfortable Sharing Academic Concerns with My Instructor65
17	Q9 - I Often Communicate with My Instructor During Class
18	Q4 - I Often Ask My Instructor for Clarification During a Lecture67
19	Q10 - I Often Communicate with My Instructor Outside of Class
20	Q20 - I Strongly Identify as a Veteran69
21	Q21 - I Generally Feel Comfortable Being Both a Veteran and a Student on Campus
	69
22	Q22 - I Am Comfortable Publicly Identifying as a Veteran on Campus70
23	Q23 - I Often Share My Veteran Status with My Instructors
24	Q24 - I Often Share My Veteran Status with My Classmates
25	Q15 - I Am Comfortable Sharing Veteran-related Matters with My Instructor72
26	Q13 - I Am Comfortable Bringing up My Military Experiences as Part of Class
	Discussions About Academic Topics

INTRODUCTION

Institutions of higher learning in the United States (US) are seeking ways to help student veterans deal with transitioning from military to civilian life. In some ways, the military environment prepares veterans to handle challenges in life related to commitment, resilience, and teamwork. For instance, Osborne (2014) argued that the military culture instills teamwork, collaboration, problem-solving, mission-driven commitment, and resilience, which are skills that can help veterans in many areas of civilian life.

However, transition after military service is, without a doubt, challenging, as the specialist expertise and skillsets acquired during military service do not always map onto the demands of everyday life and regular employment (Ahern et al., 2015). Some veterans experience difficulties in finding suitable employment and maintaining good mental health while experiencing homelessness, excessive alcohol use, and crime (Dougherty, 2015). For example, according to Milliken, Auchterlonie, and Hoge (2007), a considerable number of veterans, as high as 67 to 70 percent, are affected by post-traumatic stress disorder (PTSD), which raises their stress levels and makes it difficult for them to carry out many everyday functions.

According to Swick et al. (2015), PTSD involves different features such as challenges in language use in fear regulation and other emotional responses and challenges in language use in maintaining cognitive control. As a result, the transition to civilian culture can result in the sense of alienation on the part of the veterans (DiRamio et al., 2008).

Brown and Gross (2011) pointed out that upon their discharge from the service, many veterans choose to pursue higher education as a way to reintegrate into civilian society and find a new professional path. Higher education provides a viable option for integrating veterans back into civilian society after they complete their service. However, the higher education learning environment requires specific skills, knowledge, and social capital for students to achieve their desired academic goals. Adapting to the behavioral patterns and language of higher education institutions often provides additional obstacles that veterans are forced to overcome (DeCoster, 2018; Stebleton & Soria, 2012).

Many studies have shown that veterans encounter multiple challenges in language use during their attempt to reintegrate into civilian life (Wands, 2013), including anxiety, a lack of relevant skills, coping difficulties, inability to grasp abstract thoughts, and difficulties in expressing themselves (Houle, 1964, as cited in Byrne, 1988). Student veterans also experience a range of mental health issues unique to their service experience, including post-traumatic stress disorder (PTSD), anxiety disorders, and other issues that may lead to communication and interaction challenges in language use in the higher education environment. A majority of the mental health challenges in language use experienced by veterans stem from increased exposure to combat situations for long periods of time. In addition, the challenges in language use also result from substance abuse and psychological symptoms resulting from their combat trauma.

A study done by Howe and Shpeer (2019) showed that suicide rates were high among the veterans, with as many as 20 veterans committing suicide each day in the United States. Student veterans also face language use challenges in language use while in higher education learning environments, especially the lack of common language and

understanding that hinders the development and formation of self-identity. In addition, student veterans also experience culture clashes when they join higher education institutions due to differences between military and college culture.

In dealing with the challenges in language use and self-identity formation, veterans relate their multiple identities to each other as students, vets, older students, and parents among others and then find a way to make it work despite the differences between military and college culture. A number of studies have established the connection between language use and the development of self-identity, especially in culturally diverse environments (Moore, 2019; Villegas-Torres & Mora-Pablo, 2018). According to Moore (2019), language use is more than just a mode of communication; it can convey culture, including acting as a repository for all the collective knowledge and experiences of people, society, or a nation. The lack of a common language or understanding results in challenges in language use when it comes to developing and forming self-identity. According to Villegas-Torres and Mora-Pablo (2018), language is intrinsically related to an individual's identification with a culture or collection of people. In the study, Villegas-Torres and Mora-Pablo (2018) further looked at how speakers project themselves with an identified target social group using a certain speech behavior to receive reinforcement.

As a result of the different challenges in language use they experience, veterans often find it hard to relate their multiple identities to each other while navigating their new social identity as civilians and students. According to Rovira (2008), identity refers to the characteristics associated with an individual. In linguistics, identity refers to an individual's identification as a speaker of one or more languages. In socialization and

language use, the linguistic identity forms part—and often a significant part—of an individual's overall identity (Rassokha, 2010) and plays a key role in cross cultural communication, especially in learning environments, and influences student veterans' identity development as civilians.

However, research on veterans and their transition to college life is scant; few empirical studies have investigated their challenging experiences in college life (Howe & Shpeer, 2019). A deeper understanding of what veterans face in their transition to civilian life, in higher education, in particular, can assist new veterans in overcoming these challenges in language use. Therefore, the current mixed-methods study explores and expounds on veterans' transition to civilian life in higher education.

Background of the Study

The US Department of Defense (2016) highlighted many similarities between veterans and university students, including the fact that most of them are under the age of 25, with 43.8 percent in the military and 74.5 percent at the university level in this age group. In addition, the Department of Defense (2016) showed that the majority of military members and university students are white, with 68.7 percent of them in the veteran's group and 58.6 percent in a university. However, the similarities between the two groups do not mean that they experience life in the same manner.

A number of studies (Ahern et al., 2015; Barry et al., 2012) have shown that even though student veteran enrollment in colleges is increasing at a good rate, veterans face a range of language use and identity challenges in language use in high education environments. Bond et al. (2019) looked at the increased rates of student veterans' enrollment in various higher education levels, including how well they perform

academically. The statistics show that since the 2000s, veterans have had a higher educational attainment level than the general population, with the comparison percentages showing a 54/53 percent rate (Bond et al., 2019). In addition, statistics show that student veterans have a 1.4 higher chance than other adult learners to earn a certificate or degree (Bond et al., 2019). The success of student veterans is also shown in the fact that 21 percent of veterans who earn a bachelor's degree go on to pursue a graduate degree (Bond et al., 2019). According to a National Center for Education Statistics (NCES) (2020) report, the total number of student veterans who enrolled in higher education and received education benefits increased by 93 percent between 2009 and 2013.

The high rate of student veteran enrollment in higher education shows that the benefits continue to attract veterans to different levels of higher education. According to the Postsecondary National Policy Institute website (2018), statistics on veterans' involvement in higher education showed that in 2018, over 650,000 veterans used military benefits to pursue higher education in various institutions. In 2017, 52 percent of student veterans were enrolled in bachelor's programs, 24 percent in two-year programs, 15 percent in technical, vocational, and non-degree programs, and 9 percent in graduate programs (PNPI, 2019).

A number of past studies, such as Ahern et al. (2015) and Osborne (2014) have shown that there are a range of similarities between campus learners and student veterans. However, while these student groups share many similarities, there are key differences between the two demographics (Koenig et al., 2014). According to Itzhaky et al. (2017), university students also have high levels of stress, but they are most concerned about

their grades and finishing their assignments on time. On the other hand, military members have experience dealing with formal dress codes and explicit rules about communication and behavior. Military veterans also deal with stress about PTSD, suicidal thoughts, and concerns about whether their fellow veterans will stay alive. Most non-veteran students have not faced such rules and restrictions before coming to the university (Hunter-Johnson et al., 2020).

Communication and language use are also different between the university and the military context. In the university setting, student veterans need to make use of new language norms in their interactions with others to form their new identity, sometimes while facing challenges of language use. Students have more freedom and flexibility when it comes to how they communicate or address key issues. However, the organizational structure and behavior in the military encourage a more formal top-down communication approach, with minimal to no flexibility for dissent or protest (Perkins et al., 2019). According to Koenig et al. (2014), veterans face a number of communication and language problems when they transition to civilian life as a result of experiencing "reverse culture shock."

The main objective of this study is to explore the experiences and opinions of military veterans in the university setting in order to understand the challenges in language use in their transition to civilian life.

Statement of the Problem

Howe and Hinderaker (2018) have shown that members of the US military replace personal and societal beliefs with organizational values upon joining the military organization. The adoption of deeply internalized cultural values, communication

strategies, and structured operations means that members of the military face challenges during their transition to civilian life.

In a related study, Koenig et al. (2014) supported the argument that military veterans usually experience a period of psychological adjustment before transitioning fully to civilian life. Howe and Hinderaker (2018) further argued that the majority of military veterans leave the military with conservative views and a value-laden culture. In this case, veterans may face challenges when transitioning into the more liberal culture of higher education institutions, such as colleges and universities. Conservative views espoused in the military focus on the opinion that every individual has a personal responsibility, reject the idea of big government, and support the free markets, personal liberty, traditional American values, and a strong national defense (Dunivin, 1994). On the other hand, the majority of modern campus students are liberal, meaning that they believe in equal opportunity and equality for all and that the government should play a bigger role in solving people's problems (Ince et al. 2018).

When veterans enroll in higher education to enhance their professional capabilities and compete in the job market, they experience entry into student life differently than their civilian counterparts. For example, even young veterans may have already spent years in the workforce, and they may find it hard to relate to the concerns of classmates still living at home. Veterans' challenges range from readjustment issues to recovery from mental and physical injuries (Barry et al., 2012). Although both combat and non-combat veterans exhibit transition challenges, veterans who have faced deployment in war zones or situations of strife have a higher probability of facing such challenges (Ahern et al., 2015). These challenges, such as different cultures,

organizational structures, world views, and many more, significantly impact veterans' educational outcomes compared to civilian students (Jordan, 2019).

Few studies (Ahern et al., 2015; Landrum, 2018; Howe & Shpeer, 2019) have sought to explore the challenges veterans face, and even less attention has been given to the strategies used by veterans to overcome those challenges. In previous research, veterans have voiced their challenges with the daunting bureaucracy related to higher education, particularly in the difference between the military chain of command and the organization of college and university campuses (Jordan, 2019). For example, in the academic system, students need to know whether the answers to their questions can be found in the Office of the Registrar, their assigned advisor (if one has been assigned), the library, or a myriad of other specialized offices. Therefore, some veterans reveal a sense of alienation upon starting classes (Ahern et al., 2015) and often feel overwhelmed during their first classes, as they are unaware of where to turn for help. Ultimately, veterans need support to make the transition to civilian life.

In most cases, some of the challenges combat veterans face involve relating their multiple identities to each other, including their veteran experiences and their student status. As mentioned earlier, the process of identity formation in a new environment involves both language use and socializing (Ochs & Schieffelin, 2008). For the student veterans at the center of this study, institutions of higher learning should put in place oncampus resources to help student veterans deal with their unique challenges in language use and formulate the new university-related aspects of their social identity.

Purpose of the Study

Student veterans face a range of challenges, including those in language use, when it comes to transitioning to civilian life in higher education. Broadening the range of tools available to veterans and their families may help reduce the stress and anxiety experienced when transitioning from military life to civilian life (Borsari et al., 2017). A deeper understanding of veterans' transition experiences, which will be shared via this research, can serve to assist new veterans in overcoming these challenges in language use (Cox, 2019). Therefore, the purpose of this study is: (a) to understand the challenges in language use raised by the differences between military language and academic language in universities, and (b) to understand how combat veterans negotiate their identity as veterans in academic settings. In other words, this study seeks to explore how the different cultures between the military and university environments result in language and communication challenges in language use to military veterans, affecting their transition to civilian life and experiences in higher learning environments.

Implications of the Study

The findings of this study will have implications for policy and practice. In the realm of policy, the Department of Veteran Affairs may use the findings of this study to help Veteran Readiness and Employment (VR&E) to better assist new veterans looking to further their education. Through these findings, VR&E can potentially improve veterans' readiness to adapt to their new civilian community and improve their readiness all over university campuses. In addition, the findings can offer insights into how acquisition of the academic language help new student veterans form new and intersecting identities. In terms of practice, the findings can help administrators in higher

education better aid veterans attending university programs and assist veterans in their language socialization process in higher education. For example, the findings may suggest establishing new on-campus programs to support veterans or improving the available programs to better accommodate student veterans.

Research Questions

This research study seeks to offer insights into the ways that veterans deal with challenges in language use they face during their transition to civilian life at Arizona State University (ASU). The study is guided by the research questions below:

- What kind of challenges in language use do combat veterans experience in their language use as they transition from military to civilian life in higher education?
- How do combat veterans present their identity as veterans in academic settings?

Summary

Military veterans in higher education are a unique demographic of the student population in colleges and universities. They are currently understudied in modern research literature. However, the lack of available empirical research means that colleges and universities cannot make strongly informed policy decisions related to student services for veterans. Even though student veterans in higher education continue to perform on par with regular students (Ahern et al., 2015; Bell, 2017), there is an understanding that many veterans continue to face major challenges in language use in their journey.

Past research has indicated that student veterans face major challenges in language use compared to non-veteran students at institutions of higher learning and in transitioning to civilian life in general (Brown & Gross, 2011; Cox, 2019). Apart from the challenges in language use that combat veterans face in universities, they also face major opportunities to complete education and be integrated into society. However, their success in these opportunities depends on how they learn to communicate effectively with other members of the academic community and negotiate their complex identities so that they can be effectively integrated into the university community. Thus, this dissertation focuses on understanding the challenges in language use in veterans' transition to civilian life in higher education.

LITERATURE REVIEW AND THEORETICAL FRAMEWORKS

The purpose of this chapter is two folds. First, it presents the background information on student veterans in US higher education and review of the existing literature relevant to the proposed inquiry. Then it reviews theoretical frameworks and concepts that guide the present study.

Most past studies highlight the general challenges that veterans go through as they transition from military to civilian life without focusing on their language use in higher education. In the first half this chapter, I review such studies to show what is known about such challenges and to shed light on an area where more data and information are desperately needed.

First, I provide a history of the existing military and higher education connection to provide a wide context for my research topic. The literature under this section mainly focuses on the economic, political, and cultural factors that have either assisted or hindered veterans' participation in higher education, with a focus on the role of the federal government.

Then, the chapter presents an extended review of the literature on the various features that make student veterans different from traditional students, which make them susceptible to the unique challenges. This segment also provides a general outlook on the problem before specifically discussing the challenges in language use student veterans face in higher education. Finally, the third section presents the literature relevant to the main focus of the dissertation: the challenges student veterans face, that are linked to challenges in language use in higher education and their identities as veterans.

The latter half of the chapter presents language socialization theory, the main theory that frames this study, and discusses its appropriateness to guide the current study. I also briefly discuss the role of identity in socialization and language use, as it directly relates to one of my research questions. These theoretical frameworks and concepts offer a foundation for understanding language both as a form of communication and as a tool of cultural assimilation.

Literature Review

Military and Higher Education History in the United States

Fully understanding the relationship between student veterans and higher education institutions today involves first looking at the history of the two institutions, particularly since the end of the Second World War.

Second World War and the Initial G.I. Bill (Servicemen's Readjustment Act of 1944)

Borsari et al. (2017) and Smith-Osborne (2012) have argued that the connection between the military and higher education institutions mainly started during the Second World War, when even the academic community showed great patriotism. As the war progressed, university research departments got involved in developing weapons for the military, representing closer cooperation between the two entities that had never been seen before.

Under the Land-Grant College Act of 1862, the collaboration between institutions of higher learning and the military resulted in the promotion of innovations in agriculture and the mechanical arts (Abrams, 1989). The Servicemen's Readjustment Act of 1944, or the G.I. Bill, was signed into law by President Franklin Roosevelt (1933-1945) during the final stages of the Second World War (Rumann & Hamrick, 2009; Servicemen's

Readjustment Act of 1944). The bill was meant to motivate the high number of veterans returning home from the war to attend institutions of higher learning as a way of avoiding a flood of ex-military in the job market as unskilled laborers (Altschuler & Blumin, 2009).

According to Jones (2017), the passing of the G.I. Bill saw major improvements in the number of veterans registering for higher education: 49 percent by 1947, which was higher than the earlier 15 percent rate. However, the effect of the G.I. Bill has been debated for a long time as to whether or not it helped veterans in particular or helped to alter the contours of higher education in the country as a whole. Jones (2017) argued that the implementation of the bill allowed people who would have never had a chance to attend higher education institutions to receive a university degree, forever altering the course of veterans' lives and higher education as a whole.

The Korean War (1950-1953) and the Vietnam War (1955-1975).

The Servicemen Readjustment Bill was passed in 1952 by the US Congress, with the aim of providing government support to the veterans returning from the Korean War (Servicemen's Readjustment Act of 1952). The bill covered the cost of tuition in the majority of the country's institutions of higher learning while mandating that the veterans utilize the benefits within 10 years. A review of the bill in the 1950s showed that it did not motivate veterans to attend higher education, but the review failed to look at what other challenges in language use could have led to these outcomes (Servicemen's Readjustment Act of 1944). Congress passed the Vietnam G.I. Bill, also known as the Veterans Readjustment Benefits Act, in 1966 and focused on limiting the benefits offered to Vietnam War veterans who served between 1964 and 1975 (Steele, Salcedo, & Coley,

2010; Veterans Readjustment Benefits Act of 1966). During this time, there was a high prevalence of antiwar sentiments in many institutions of higher learning, which meant that veterans often felt targeted and unwelcome (Steele, Salcedo, & Coley, 2010). The hostility and anti-Vietnam War sentiment were some of the many environmental factors preventing veterans from either enrolling in higher education or finishing their degrees.

Later legislation reduced the educational provisions provided to veterans. The passing of the Veterans Educational Assistance Program by Congress in 1977 (Dortch, 2012) and the Montgomery G.I. Bill of 1985 (Mercer & Skinner, 2008) further reduced veterans benefits associated with higher education, such as coverage of tuition costs and monthly living stipends. The reduction of benefits reduced access for veterans in higher education, making it harder for the group to afford higher education. However, the passing of the Montgomery G.I. Bill of 1985 provided extended benefits to the veterans from the National Guard and reserves to aid them in transitioning smoothly to civilian life. However, the US Department of Veteran Affairs (2011) noted that the benefits provided through these various rounds of legislation were not for all veterans, as the awards depended on the location of deployment and length of service.

In the instances of these three pieces of legislation, it is clear that political and legislative factors played a key role in determining the benefits provided, which affected the number of veterans who could access higher education. In addition, the increased promotion of veterans' education also has had major impacts on society socially, economically, and technologically, as educated veterans make for a useful labor force helping to build the economy (Harrell & Berglass, 2012).

Post-9/11 G.I. Bill of 2009

The US Congress passed the Reserve Educational Assistance Program (REAP) in 2005, an update of the Montgomery G.I. Bill of 1984 (Gumbel, 1987). According to Steele, Salcedo, and Coley (2010), the passing of the new bill focused on providing similar benefits to both active-duty service members and reservists called to active duty after September 11, 2001. However, the benefits provided by the government were not sufficient to cover the cost of higher education, leading to many challenges in language use for student veterans. For instance, the majority of student veterans struggled with financial issues related to covering daily expenses, something that was not factored into the earlier bills.

Congress passed another bill, the Post-9/11 G.I. Bill in 2009, in an attempt to fix the problem (Dortch, 2012). The passing of this bill was different from the earlier ones in that it increased benefits to veterans instead of reducing them (Caspers & Ackerman, 2012). In addition, the bill was also beneficial to veterans because it offered different benefits such as covering tuition and fees to many veterans, including those who fought in Operation Enduring Freedom (2001-2014) and Operation Iraqi Freedom (2003-2011).

The majority of the studies reviewed above mainly focused on looking at the integration of veterans into higher education from a legal or political viewpoint, noting how government support or the lack of it has influenced how veterans access higher education since World War II. The next section examines the unique characteristics of student veterans.

From History to Present

The end of the Second World War in 1945 marked the passing of the Servicemen's Readjustment Act of 1944, which prompted veterans to arrive on college campuses in large numbers, as high as 49 percent, due to the educational benefits included in the legislation (Jones, 2017). More recently, according to Radford (2009), the United States (US) Census Bureau reported in 2006 that 1.1 million military veterans enrolled in higher education during the 2001-2002 school year, while in 2007-2008, 875,000, or 4 percent of the enrolled undergraduates, were military veterans. The process of veterans enrolling further continued after the September 11, 2001 (9/11) attacks and large-scale military deployments in Iraq and Afghanistan, which led to the passing of the veteran-focused post-9/11 G.I. Bill. This legislation further encouraged military veterans to enroll in higher education, with numbers as high as 3.6 million enrolling by the academic year 2019 (Morris et al., 2019).

Even though military veterans have been attending higher education campuses in large numbers for a long time, since the end of the Second World War, many institutions of higher learning such as universities and community colleges continue to struggle to understand the challenges in language use veterans face, as well as how to handle them (Morris et al. 2019). Some reports in the literature, such as Morris et al. (2019) and Jones (2017) have suggested that the dropout rate among student veterans within their first year of college is as high as 88 percent (Borsari et al., 2017).

Student Veterans and Their Experiences

Unique Characteristics of Student Veterans

Student veterans can be included in the broad category of non-traditional students who are in the higher education system after the "standard" age of 18 and may have children, work full-time, or be veterans. The main understanding in this case is that student veterans are different from traditional higher education students when it comes to demographics, experiences, language use, and other key factors. In particular, Borsari et al. (2017) pointed out that veterans in higher education institutions are quite different from the typical student, including the fact that 73 to 79 percent are male, 60 percent are Caucasian, 18 percent are African American, 13 percent are Hispanic, and 3 percent are Asian (p. 168). According to the US Census Bureau (2018), of just the current undergraduate college student population, 52.9 percent are non-Hispanic White, 20.9 percent are Hispanic, 15.1 percent are Black, and 7.6 percent are Asian, while graduate students are 61.2 percent White non-Hispanic, 13.6 percent Hispanic, 12.3 percent Black, and 11.2 percent Asian. In addition, their study showed that the majority of veterans tend to be older than typical college students, with only 20 percent aged between 17 and 23 years, the typical demographic at universities and community colleges. Moreover, women continue to be a majority on college campuses at 54.9 percent of undergraduate students and 59.8 percent of graduate students. Only 29.3 percent of undergraduate college students are attending two-year institutions. In addition, veterans are 47 percent more likely to be married, 47 percent are more likely to have children, and 15 percent are more likely to be single parents compared to traditional college students (Borsari et al., 2017).

A number of past studies such as Nicassio and Saral (1978) and Smith-Osborne (2012) focus on showing the key differences between student veterans and traditional students in higher education learning environments. Nicassio and Saral (1978) argued that non-traditional learners interact with university language and culture differently than traditional students. In their study on service members, Borsari et al. (2017) looked at the challenges in language use this population of students goes through during integration into higher education, noting how their unique characteristics make it hard for them to adapt successfully, as they are simultaneously reintegrating in civilian life while undertaking higher education.

According to Smith-Osborne (2012), veterans also view traditional students as "kids" who have a less structured lifestyle than veterans have experienced in the military. Student veterans also differ from traditional college students due to their social connections and identity, mental health, physical disabilities, and redeployment risk (Smith-Osborne, 2012). Student veterans often report difficulty connecting socially with traditional students who are less likely to have firmly established vocational, social, and family functions (Blaauw-Hara, 2016).

These differences make it hard for student veterans to identify with the college lifestyle, further challenging their ability to finish their degrees, and some of them eventually drop out (Smith-Osborne, 2012). Kim and Cole (2013) provided a comparison of characteristics of student veterans in higher education with non-veteran students in key areas such as forming relationships, class preparation, discussing grades with instructors, learning on their own, and so on. The study first looked at students' relationships with others and among themselves while at the university grounds. For both veteran and non-

veteran students, forming good relationships on campus plays a key role in successfully engaging in campus life and academics. The study showed that a higher number of student veterans (61 percent) noted that they have friendly and supportive relationships with faculty and staff, a lower number of non-veteran students at 54 percent felt the same way (Kim & Cole, 2013). However, when it comes to relationships with other students, student veterans had lower figures at 58 percent who reported having a friendly and supportive relationship with fellow students compared to the high number of 62 percent among the non-veteran students (Kim & Cole, 2013). The percentages showed that student veterans mainly experience supportive and friendly relationships with faculty and administrators, while non-veteran students experience supportive and friendly relationships with fellow students.

Difference between Military and College Life

Past studies have shown that student veterans are different from traditional students when transitioning from military service to a higher education environment (Ahern et al., 2015; Astin, 2011; Howe & Shpeer, 2019). According to Howe and Shpeer (2019), US military and higher education institutions have many demographic differences and cultures. For instance, the US military has strict rules that must be obeyed and followed at all times in order to avoid punishments or consequences. For instance, the military rules formalized by the Uniform Code of Military Justice prohibit military members from speaking out against nationally elected officials, including the president, senators, or members of Congress. Breaking this rule automatically results in forfeiture of pay, dishonorable discharge, or imprisonment. On the other hand, college students are not restricted from commenting or speaking against any person, elected or otherwise. In

addition, the students are also encouraged to engage in critical thinking and discussions, where different opinions may be expressed. Many student veterans are surprised by the fact that students in college environments have the freedom of speech to say anything they want while they have been restricted in the military (Ahern et al., 2015). As a result, student veterans are not always sure of the kind of language to use and may even be offended upon hearing traditional students using a certain kind of language.

Howe and Shpeer (2019) further described other organizational structures found in the military but not in institutions of higher learning, such as enforcing military values, hierarchical communication, the requirement for an impeccable experience, and punctuality. The rules in the military create organizationally constructed behavior instead of socially constructed behavior. The same is not found in university environments as students live with minimal supervision or rules.

In a related study, Gallois and Giles (2015) mentioned how the two different learned behaviors end up creating two unique cultures or sets of social norms, with each establishment designed for the purpose of the respective group. In this case, student veterans may find themselves increasingly bonding together, while traditional students stay together as they share a common way to communicate. Gallois and Giles (2015) further pointed out that the convergence of the individuals to the different groups is determined by the social, cognitive, and psychological factors. In most cases, individuals are attracted to a group that communicates or uses language in the same manner as tehy do, explaining the reason for creating subgroups based on similarities within the same learning environment.

On the positive side, higher education can allow veterans to reintegrate into civilian life, giving them social and professional satisfaction and boosting their sense of self. Lim et al. (2016) found that military experiences offer veterans avenues to display discipline, leadership skills, and a sense of pride in their contribution to society. In this context, Dougherty (2015) found that while veterans are assimilating professional knowledge, they are also being socialized with and by their peers and instructors on the social and cultural values of professionalism, teamwork, and discipline in the university setting. Moon and Schma (2011) studied the different institutional programs, policies, and support agencies that can help student veterans to cope with the numerous challenges in language use they face, such as financial issues, psychological problems, and mental issues. The main finding put forward by Astin (2011) and Moon and Schma (2011) is that the majority of challenges in language use student veterans face are a result of a lack of help and support from colleagues and the university administration.

Organizational support has also been noted as a key component of enhancing student veterans' experience in institutions of higher learning. Richardson et al. (2015) and O'Herrin (2011) conducted studies on the centrality of organizational support for student veterans. For example, Richardson et al. (2015) discussed the use of degree mapping as a strategy to aid student veterans. The strategy involves higher education advisors and counselors providing students with information and concrete guidance on how to complete their degrees. In addition, the advisors also counsel students on the best way to follow the programs and what is required of them in the higher education learning environment. The main understanding is that the degree-mapping strategy provides student veterans with a connection between the military culture and the higher education

culture. These connections happen through enabling the student veterans to learn and understand the higher education learning culture and assimilate it with the military culture. The findings of a study by O'Herrin (2011) also supported incorporating organizational resources to guide student veterans on the best way to take advantage of the higher education environment. In this case, the main understanding was that most student veterans do not benefit from the available resources as a result of lack of exposure or lack of knowledge. Both studies highlight the need to provide student veterans with resources to cope with the challenges in language use in an environment different from the military culture and environment they have been immersed in.

Challenges Faced in the Higher Education Environment

For veterans whose life experiences are far removed from those of civilians, even other non-traditional students, the higher education process is even more fraught with anxiety and stress. Livingston and Bauman (2013) pointed out that student veterans often face additional challenges re-enrolling and reintegrating into the higher education environment after the redeployment process. Many studies have shown that veterans encounter multiple challenges during their attempt to reintegrate into civilian life (Wand, 2013), including anxiety, a lack of relevant skills, coping difficulties, inability to grasp abstract thoughts, and difficulties in expressing themselves (Houle, 1964, as cited in Byrne, 1988).

Citing work from Adkins et al. (1999), Finn (2010) defined three types of stress in veterans' resettlement/re-transitioning process: migration stress, acculturation stress, and traumatic stress. Migration stress is the move from one place to another, stress related to the migratory experience and the necessary acculturation process occurring in adaptation

to the new community (Bustamante et al., 2018). Challenges associated with migration to a new community have been found to increase the risk of mental health problems (Kartal & Kiropoulos, 2016).

Acculturation stress is the difficulty related to coping in a new cultural environment, although most empirical evidence has concentrated on exploring the acculturative process of the individual without exploring the impact of the host society, which is key in understanding the full process of acculturation and stress associated with migration (Schwartz et al., 2010). Dougherty (2015) found that socialization issues further compound the challenges in student veterans' experience, and he suggested that veterans should be offered tailored opportunities for socializing in addition to counseling and mentoring programs. Similarly, Larson (1990) noted that veterans were a "distinct group of students in the colleges' database but not as a recognizable group in the classroom or on campus" (p. 39) because they were not reliant on "interpersonal relationships with other students" and they were "unusually individualistic" (p. 139).

Student veterans also experience a range of mental health issues unique to their service experience, including post-traumatic stress disorder (PTSD), anxiety disorders, and other issues that may lead to communication and interaction challenges in language use in the higher education environment. Veterans who have been exposed to combat situations and have experienced traumatic stress in their military careers often exhibit problematic behaviors as they cope with trauma, including both substance abuse and psychological symptoms related to their combat trauma (Barry et al., 2014). In particular, suicide rates are high among veterans; the Office of Public and Intergovernmental Affairs (2016) reported that at least 20 veterans commit suicide daily in the United States. In

addition, Howe and Shpeer (2019) found that majority of the veterans who committed suicide felt cut off from society. According to a qualitative study by Howe and Shpeer (2019), when veterans fail to interact with civilian members of the society after deployment, the majority of the affected individuals usually experience discomfort in educational, intrapersonal, professional, and interpersonal areas of life.

Trauma-related cognitive difficulties may also form a part of student assimilation challenges, and instructors and on-campus offices should deal sensitively with such manifestations of trauma (Ahern et al., 2015). Several studies (Ahern et al., 2015; Landrum, 2018; Shpeer, 2019) have shown that veterans face all these stressors when entering a higher education learning environment. According to Canfield and Weiss (2015), student veterans' mental health issues can lead to consequences such as physical fights, drug abuse, and confrontations, further alienating them from traditional college students. In most cases, trauma-related cognitive difficulties make it hard for student veterans to have a smooth learning experience in higher education institutions, leading to high dropout rates.

Challenges in Language Use Faced by Student Veterans

A number of studies have established the connection between language use and the development of self-identity, especially in culturally diverse environments (Moore, 2019; Villegas-Torres & Mora-Pablo, 2018). According to Moore (2019), language is more than just a mode of communication; it can convey culture, acting as a repository for all the collective knowledge and experiences of people, society, or a nation. The lack of a common language or understanding results in problemswhen it comes to developing and forming self-identity. According to Villegas-Torres and Mora-Pablo (2018), language is

intrinsically related to an individual's identification with a culture or collection of people. In the study, Villegas-Torres and Mora-Pablo (2018) further looked at how speakers project themselves with an identified target social group using a certain speech behavior to receive reinforcement.

Veterans experience culture clashes when they transition from military culture to college culture, which influence their learning, language use, and interaction (Shpeer, 2019). For instance, active and veteran members of the military view language as contributing to their identity since it provides a sense of cohesion and unity (Shpeer, 2019). Veterans often express displaced dissent or direct verbal disagreement with non-veteran learners and teachers (Ahern et al., 2015). Nicassio and Saral (1978) pointed out that veteran standard communication is direct, exact, respectful, and necessary and that their perceptions of these communicative values can impact how they talk and process conversations with others. Civilian communication, by contrast, seems to veterans to be slower, and the focus is initially centered on relationship-building and trust (Ahern et al., 2015) rather than content. However, the views on veteran language use in this case are based on the veterans' viewpoint, which sees military language use and communication as the norm as opposed to the normal civilian use of language

A qualitative study by Howe and Shpeer (2019) identified three major themes regarding the communicative processes of military veterans entering the higher education environment: culture clash, perspective-taking, and self-silencing. The three themes of culture clashes, perspective-taking, and self-silencing, are discussed in detail below.

Howe and Shpeer (2019) revealed that the majority of student veterans described interactions with traditional college students as a culture clash with the military values

they had learned. A number of past studies have also stressed the important role that culture plays when it comes to helping students attain their higher educational goals. For instance, Jacobs (2014) highlighted the key influence that language has on increasing the bond between the student and the learning institution. In effect, culture plays a key role in helping to connect the student and the learning institution in question. Poth, Riedel, and Luth (2015) pointed out that students want to learn and understand the higher education language and culture and seek new ways to grow with it.

However, even though the majority of student veterans noted that they reacted positively to encounters in higher education that challenged their previous beliefs, sometimes the encounters can be negative and confrontational. For example, one student veteran noted how he walked to a door and saw "a communism socialist club flier," which shocked him, as the same thing could not happen in the military (Howe & Shpeer, 2019, p. 6). However, a negative confrontation was avoided as the veteran understood that college students enjoy more freedom of speech on campuses as compared to the military. In addition, the student veterans were also surprised to see that instructors and students could talk at the same time, which was unheard of in military settings. Other respondents noted that they could not relate with civilian students mainly due to challenges in language use, such as misunderstandings that resulted when student veterans carried the military's jargon and acronym-laden language into the university setting, language the majority of the students in the university do not recognize.

The second aspect mentioned by Howe and Shpeer (2019) is perspective-taking. Interactions in cross-cultural environments require each person to plan their own moves in anticipation of what their partner's moves are likely to be, which involves extensive

assumptions about what the others know, want, and believe. Successful perspective-taking involves the use of social comparison theory, which shows that interactions should involve people evaluating their personal beliefs by comparing them with the abilities and beliefs of other people (Surtees, Butterfill, & Apperly, 2012).

In a study by Howe and Shpeer (2019), participants tried to understand their communication exchanges from another person's perspective to deal with challenges in language use. In different instances, student veterans noted that they experienced nonconfrontational communication as they focused more on the new culture's desire to be intact. The majority of the respondents noted that the most important part of the whole higher education learning process was learning how to voice their opinion and listen to other opinions without getting confrontational (Howe & Shpeer, 2019). However, the study also established that veterans who suffer from PTSD faced the most challenges when it came to the issue of perspective-taking, as they did not know or understand how to deal with their PTSD. Gasiorek and Ebesu Hubbard (2017) conducted a systematic review study to establish how essential it is to take another person's perspective during the communication process. The study showed that communication is the process of sharing or making common personal ideas, taking the conceptual content in one mind and activating it in another. The key point of the process involves the formation of ideas regarding what is going on in other people's minds.

The third communicative process mentioned by Howe and Shpeer (2019) was self-silencing. The process of self-silencing, especially for depressed or stressed persons, involves the suppression of certain thoughts, feelings, and actions that an individual thinks might contradict the other party's wishes (Howe & Shpeer, 2019). In most cases,

people employ silence to avoid conflicts, maintain a relationship, or ensure their physiological or physical safety (Howe & Shpeer, 2019). However, it is also important to note that the act of self-silencing means that the affected persons may feel a loss of self and a sense of being lost in their lives. Ladha et al. (2018) discussed the issue of self-silencing as a result of a combination of factors such as discomfort with a question or conversation, uncertainty about the meaning of a particular word, or apprehension about the reasons for a question or conversation.

Self-silencing is a key theme in understanding the language use challenges student veterans face in the higher education learning environment. A study by Hayes and Matthes (2014) pointed out that non-traditional students often feel silenced by the university system's practices, norms, and language. Howe and Shpeer (2019) cited three main reasons students self-silence among student veterans: fear of punishment, fear their words will sound inappropriate, and concern it is not their responsibility to act. Howe and Shpeer (2019) also mentioned that veterans are accustomed to the hierarchical structure of the military and the emphasis on top-down communication in the military. The majority of student veterans noted that they had always been told what and how to dress, what to say and how to say it as well as other rules. These rules apparently were not followed at the institutions of higher learning, so they were not sure what the accepted behavioral scripts were in their new context. For instance, one respondent noted that they always felt like correcting the behaviors other students were engaged in, like disrespecting teachers (based on their military background), but they held back because that was not one of their responsibilities.

Peer Support Groups

Student veterans face challenges in interacting with traditional students due to physical, emotional, and social traumas suffered while deployed. However, according to Hu (2010), such challenges can be mitigated through encouraging peer interactions and high levels of social engagement, which lead to student persistence and a reduction in student dropout rates. The formation of peer support groups by faculties or departments in higher education institutions can play a key role in influencing the combat veterans' sense of belonging as well as intentionally increasing peer interaction to prevent feelings of isolation (Blackwell-Starnes, 2018). However, it is also important to note that combat students face a harder time connecting with traditional students due to differences in age, maturity, and experiences. Despite this setback, combat veterans use peer support groups as a survival tool that aids in their blending in while on campus and finding information that can help with their navigation.

A Summary of Studies Used in the Current Research

Across the limited research surrounding the transition of student veterans from military life to the higher education environment, a number of themes have come up to denote how they face challenges in communicating, especially with traditional college students. Some of the themes reviewed in this literature review chapter include culture clash, perspective-taking, self-silencing, the difference between military and university environments, and challenges in self-identity development among student veterans. The literature review also showed that most of the language use problems faced by the student veterans originate from the fact that the military and institutions of higher learning have different organizational structures, behaviors, and social norms.

As mentioned previously, there is limited research on challenges in language use affecting student veterans in their transition to the university learning environment, and the field needs further research. In an attempt to show the existing literature on the subject and also draw attention to existing gaps in research, a specific literature review is provided for the main studies chosen for the literature review, especially on the language use themes. The section only includes the studies that relate directly to the research topic in an effort to show the existing research gaps in the literature.

Ahern et al. (2015) examined the challenges in language use of veterans transitioning from combat duty in Afghanistan and Iraq to civilian life and their different approaches to reconnection. The study uses a qualitative research study using in-depth interviews with 24 veterans. The findings of the study show how the study examined different overarching themes from the primary data, including military as a family, normal is alien, and searching for a new normal. Barry et al. (2014) examined the life experiences of student service members/veterans in higher education institutions. The study used a systematic qualitative review of the literature and found that as compared to civilians, veterans portray a higher rate of health risk behaviors and psychological symptoms and personal and educational adjustment difficulties. Borsari et al. (2017) investigated the challenges for reintegration that student service members/ veterans go through while on campus. A systematic qualitative review of the literature methodology was used in the study. The findings of the study showed that student service members encounter personal and environmental challenges when transitioning from the military to higher education. Daly and Fox Garrity (2013) assessed the institutional structure and student veterans to determine how they are designed to serve their needs at militaryfriendly institutions, using an empirical qualitative study methodology. The findings of the study show that American colleges and universities differ in how they address student veterans as per their organizational framework categorized into different variables such as department, level and specialization. In his study, Dougherty (2015) determined how the military experience of student veterans affects their higher education experiences. The author used a qualitative methodology as well as using interviews as a data collection method. The findings of the study showed different ways in how military experience affected the education experiences of student veterans: (a) veterans were experienced with group collaboration; (b) veterans held high expectations of themselves; (c) veterans were organized and task-oriented; (d) veterans are experienced learners, and (e) veterans had the experience and ability to work with others.

In another related study, Griffin and Gilbert (2015) used Schlossberg's transition framework to determine the different barriers and institutional support structures for student veterans in higher education¹. The study used a qualitative study methodology using narratives from student veterans. The findings of the study reveal how organizational structures help student veterans to develop navigational strategies as well as organizational actions and policies that pose transitional challenges. Howe and Shpeer (2019) investigated the communicative challenges in language use of student veterans in the university using the communication accommodation theory. The qualitative research methodology was used in this study in conjunction with using interviews as a data

¹ Schlossberg defined a transition as any event or non-event that results in changed relationships, routines, assumptions, and roles. It is important to note that perception plays a key role in transitions as an event or non-event meets the definition of a transition only if it is so defined by the individual experiencing it.

collection method. The findings of the study showed that a lack of adequate models are used in understanding student-veteran transition experiences, especially in community colleges. Jones (2017) examined veterans' transition process and experiences attending community colleges using a qualitative research study methodology and interviews as a data collection method. The study's findings showed that a lack of adequate models are used in understanding student-veteran transition experiences, especially in community colleges. Lim et al. (2016) examined the use of the engineering course as the pathway to student veterans' reintegration into higher education and civilian society. A qualitative phenomenological study methodology was used and combined with interviews for data collection purposes. The findings showed that a clear connection was identified between prior military assignments and the new professional goal of the veterans of becoming an engineer. Poth et al. (2015) examined student perspectives and framed them into the higher education institutional review policy process. A qualitative research study methodology was used as well as questionnaires for data collection. The findings showed a lack of focus when it comes to using assessment to inform instruction and a lack of clarity in the purposes of assessment. Smith-Osborne (2012) designed a student veteran project study to help in supporting resilience in an academic setting for student veterans and soldiers as an aspect of community integration. A qualitative research study methodology was used. The findings showed that the intervention project was connected to the protective mechanisms of support network density, higher mood, and resilience.

Ou and Gu (2018) investigated the use of the theory of language socialization and identity in intercultural communication by investigating the experiences of Chinese students in a transnational university in China. The authors used a qualitative research

study methodology using interviews, and the authors used observational data to help in answering the research questions. The study showed asymmetrical power between Chinese students and English native speakers in conversations, resulting in the separation of the two groups on campus and pushing the Chinese students into a vulnerable ESL speaker position. Lønsmann (2017) examined language and socializing as a catalyst for change by looking at language socialization and norm negotiation in a transient multilingual workplace. A qualitative research study methodology using interviews and observational data was employed in the study. The study findings showed that English speakers in globalized working settings had feelings of exclusion due to the failure to socialize in the given culture as a result of limitations in language.

Theoretical Framework: Language Socialization

According to Sook Lee and Bucholtz (2015), language socialization refers to the "process by which individuals acquire, reproduce, and transform the knowledge and competence that enable them to participate appropriately within specific communities of language users" (p. 319). As a theoretical framework, language socialization provides a key approach to understanding how linguistic and cultural competence are made up through daily interactions within communities of practice. Through the lens of human development and linguistic anthropology, language socialization is both the process of socialization through the use of language as well as socializing to use language.

According to Ochs and Schieffelin (2008), language socialization as a framework involves understanding the potential of embodied communication in engaging novices in apprehending and taking note of both familiar and novel ways of thinking, feeling, and acting with others. In other words, the concept looks at the desires and expectations of

societal members on their children and other novices to display appropriate forms of sociality and competence. For a long time, scholars have focused on looking at the process of language acquisition and language competence from two major viewpoints, both focused on children: as located in a child's innate structures or as a product of verbal input from the child's environment. The current study takes language socialization out of the context of children's experiences and applies it to veterans as novices in the higher education environment.

Use of Language Socialization in Language Acquisition and Transition to a New Environment

Different researchers have studied the use of language socialization as a theory to explain and understand language acquisition and transition to a new environment. For instance, Sook Lee and Bucholtz (2015) viewed the process that helps to make visible the connections between language and culture in the process of learning and teaching. This cross-cultural perspective takes into consideration the existence of both biological and psychological attributes in the learning processes, while at the same time acknowledging considerable variations due to cultural factors and socio-historical conditions (Sook Lee & Bucholtz, 2015). The use of language socialization to understand the acquisition of language and transition to a new environment also involves paying close attention to the process of socializing within culturally meaningful learning spaces and the way the practices can be combined or kept apart across different kinds of universities as a learning space. In the current study, the idea of culture relates to the topic through the understanding that the military and the university learning environment represent

different cultures, meaning "the ideas, customs and social behaviors of a particular group of people or society" (Ou & Gu, 2018, p. 420).

A study by Lønsmann (2017) examined the concept of norm negotiation, where linguistic norms can be viewed as social conventions for language use. Lønsmann (2017) viewed norms as created under the influence of a range of different factors and environments, such as societal norms, ideologies, institutional norms, and group norms. This study explained how external factors play a key role in shaping an individual's language and social identity in a given context. Another study by Ou and Gu (2018) expounded on the theory of language socialization by exploring the identity construction of Chinese students during their interaction with international peers in the university learning environment. The study was conducted in China, and the context is important in that the study focused on looking at how foreign students coped with different challenges faced during the process of integration into the learning spaces. The study showed an asymmetrical power connection between Chinese students and their native Englishspeaking peers when it comes to conversations, which leads to the separation of the two groups in the university environment and pushes the Chinese students into a vulnerable speaker position as English language learners. The theory of language socialization helps to explain interaction and communication between individuals of different cultural and linguistic backgrounds (Ou & Gu, 2018). The theory is useful in understanding how groups with different cultures and languages form social identities, especially when it comes to their social and cultural positioning, even when they operate in the same context or environments. As mentioned above, culture relates to the study in that it means "the ideas, customs and social behaviors of a particular group of people or society" (p. 420).

In the context of the present study, the military and the universities' learning spaces represent two different cultures.

Duff (2010) offered an explanation regarding the topic by looking at how newcomers to an academic culture learn to take part successfully in the oral and written discourse and related practices of that discourse community. In addition, the author also looked at how the interaction of the newcomers with their peers, instructors, tutors, and others facilitates the process of acquiring expertise, confidence, and a sense of authority over different practices over time. According to Duff (2010), the language socialization perspective views development as culturally centered, mediated, and replete with social, cultural, and political meanings, in conjunction with propositional or ideational meanings carried or indexed by different linguistic, textual, and paralinguistic forms. The core theoretical premise of the language socialization theory is that language is acquired through interactions with other people who are more proficient in the language or discourse in question and its associated cultural practices. In addition, the proficient persons also help novices with explicit and implicit mentoring regarding the normative and appropriate uses of language according to the community members (Duff, 2010). The language socialization theory also shows that learners gain more than language knowledge when participating in new discourse communities. They also gain other kinds of information or cultural knowledge regarding ideologies, identities, affective orientations, and linguistic and nonlinguistic content.

The Appropriateness of Language Socialization as a Theoretical Framework

The current study employs language socialization as the theoretical framework, considering language both as a form of communication and as a tool of cultural

assimilation (Guardado, 2018). Language socialization theories evaluate the connection between cultural and linguistic processes in human development (Howard, 2014). The underlying premise of language socialization is that socialization involves the interface of language and culture. And human development can be traced to the interface between language and social learning (Garrett, 2008) to understand children's development, since they learn language and social norms simultaneously in their homes and in the educational context. The present study is grounded in the theory of language socialization, which emanates from the idea that language is a critical medium in the development of social and cultural knowledge and sensibilities (Ochs & Schieffelin, 2012). Individuals make meaning from cultural symbols or contexts, indicating the broader socialization context of language (Ochs & Schieffelin, 2012, p. 2).

Language socialization theories have also been used to understand how adults come to understand societal norms and expectations, accept society's beliefs, and be aware of societal values (Garrett, 2008). The armed forces environment forces military recruits to live by the forces' established values and regulations, such as loyalty, duty, respect, selfless service, honesty, integrity, and personal courage (Bell, 2017), which are intended to shape military members for war specifically. According to Howe and Hinderaker (2018), the social behavior exhibited by the veterans after leaving the military is artificial, meaning that it is not a result of a social construction but emanates from an organizational construction. In the case of this study, the military creates a different culture from that of universities or colleges. According to Wolf et al. (2008), the different learned group behaviors lead to the creation of two unique cultures or sets of social norms, which I will label military culture and university culture.

In addition, theories of language socialization also helps understanding how individuals form new identities in new environments and how language use and interactions with other individuals helps in this process. According to Ochs and Schieffelin (2008), the socialization of learners in any learning environment takes place both in and through language by means of interactions with others. The main understanding, in this case, is that language use and interactions with other learners play a key role in the formation of new identities. In the same case, it is also important to note how different resources provided in the learning environment play a key role in helping the new learners form their identity.

Theories of acculturation and socialization have been proposed to identify challenges in language use veterans face in their transition to civilian life (Cooper et al., 2018; Schecter & Bayley, 2004). In the context of veterans' multi-faceted needs during their transition from military life to university life, language socialization theory offers a unique combination of social and cultural dimensions since it encompasses how an individual acquires knowledge and then uses that knowledge to advance their learning over their lifetime. This process is bidirectional: On one hand, a mentor or teacher imparts knowledge, which socializes the recipient; on the other hand, the student absorbs, processes, and reflects their knowledge back into their environment, thus changing the environment itself. Therefore, socialization and changes to the environment occur at the same time (Burdelski & Howard, 2020).

Language socialization theory is important in understanding the formation and shifting of social identities (Lønsmann, 2017). Language socialization helps explain how norms are context-bound, since knowing the norms of a specific context or environment

can form part of an individual's communicative competency. As a theoretical frame, language socialization shows that linguistic and cultural learning and development can be better understood as fundamentally contextualized and interactionally emergent processes. In the case of this study, language is viewed within interactions as the main symbolic tool for developing and expressing linguistic and cultural competence.

The research questions of the current study focus on looking at the kind of challenges in language use combat veterans experience as they transition from military life into university life. Studies on language socialization and academic discourse, by Duff (2010), for example, have shown that students coming to academic institutions have different prior experiences with academic discourse despite the fact that their native language might be the same as the one spoken at the educational institution. In most cases, the student veterans experience change, difficulty, crisis of confidence, conflicts of identity, feelings of strangeness, and the need to discover the rules of an unfamiliar world they were not accustomed to. In the same context, the language socialization theory will facilitate the aims of the current study to identify the different challenges in language use that student veterans experience when they come to the higher education learning environments.

Although the social role of language in learning has been studied in many contexts, the transition of veterans into civilian life has not been covered extensively to date (Dougherty, 2015). Therefore, there is a need for this study, which examines how language socialization influences veterans' transition into civilian life, including their identity presentation.

The Role of Identity in Socialization and Language Use

According to Rovira (2008), identity refers to individuality or the condition of being a certain person. In linguistics, identity refers to an individual's identification as a speaker of one or more languages. In socializing and language use, the linguistic identity forms part and often a significant part of an individual's overall identity (Rassokha, 2010). Both identity and language play a key role in intercultural communication (communication involving different cultures such as military and higher education), especially in learning environments, and influence the identity development of the students in the new environment. The concept of language socialization explains the process by which new individuals in a community or culture socialize with experienced speakers of the language to gain communicative competence, membership, and legitimacy in the given group. In other words, a newcomer has to learn the given group's language to become a member and assume the new identity. According to Darvin and Norton (2015), identity is not static and fixed, but it is multiple and dynamic across social and linguistic contexts. When it comes to socialization and language use, identity plays a key role of helping individuals understand how they relate to the environment, the world, how the relationship has been constructed, and future possibilities (Ou & Gu, 2021). The main point to understand in this case is that for individuals, it is normal to agree to be socialized into a certain identity or not agree depending on their objectives and preferences. In socializing and language use, identity also helps individuals differentiate between groups or communities and where they belong. In addition, there is a close connection between language and identity in that language use helps to unite people who belong in the same socialization group (Park, 2011). People who belong to the same

socialization group usually use a common language to portray a common identity. A common identity in a given environment aids in communication due to the same language use as well as giving the group members a sense of pride and belonging in their socialization process. In this case, any individual who does not understand the language spoken in such a group may feel like an outsider due to differences in their identities. However, it is also possible for such an individual to endear themselves into such a group through learning the language and joining the socialization process, which helps them to gain a similar identity.

Summary

This chapter started with the literature review. It began with the literature about the complex relationship between the United States military and higher education institutions, originating with the end of World War II, when many of the changes in how veterans were educated and generally treated in higher education occurred. The government saw the need to educate returning veterans as a way of reducing the influx of semi-skilled workers into the job market. The review of the literature shows that some of the bills passed to help military members transition to the civilian population included the Servicemen's Readjustment Act of 1944, the Post-9/11 G.I. Bill, the Vietnam G.I. Bill, Veterans Educational Assistance Program, and the Montgomery G.I. Bill of 1985.

The literature review also showed how veterans' challenges in language use mainly result from their unique demographic characteristics that distinguish them from other students. The discussion also highlights the general challenges faced by student veterans in higher education environments, including migration stress, acculturation stress, and traumatic stress, working full-time, having families, suffering from PTSD and

related anxiety disorders, a lack of relevant skills, coping difficulties, and difficulties in expressing themselves (Ahern et al., 2015; Barry et al., 2014; Borsari et al., 2017; Dougherty, 2015; Howe & Shpeer, 2019; Lim et al., 2016; Poth et al., 2015). The review of the general challenges in language use faced by student veterans prepared the ground for the discussion on the specific language use challenges in language use faced by the student veterans in the higher education environment. Challenges in language use mainly fall under categories such as culture clash, perspective taking, self-identity development challenges in language use, the difference between military and the university environment, and self-silencing (Howe & Shpeer, 2019). The theoretical framework chosen for the study is language socialization theory, which offers a wider view of language as a form of communication as well as a tool of cultural assimilation (Lønsmann, 2017). This theoretical understanding indicates how language use problems emanate from student veterans' inexperience with communicating with traditional college students and operating within the rules of institutions of higher education, which is a relevant approach for the current study.

Institutions of higher learning can potentially develop programs just for student veterans in order to address this population's particular needs. Hayden et al. (2014) discussed the different needs and barriers facing student veterans, especially in relation to post-military career development. The study showed that the majority of the respondents wanted a link between their experience of the military culture and the higher education environment. In addition, the study also showed that the majority of student veterans did not have a plan when joining institutions of higher education, which complicated the process. Hayden et al. (2014) also identified the need for organizations to develop special

programs for student veterans to aid them in determining their goals post-graduation. Other studies such as Daly and Fox Garrity (2013) and Griffin and Gilbert (2015) noted the importance of institutions of higher learning reducing the gap between military and university culture and removing the challenges in language use student veterans face. Pellegrin (2013) further noted that higher education institutions need to have the resources to guide the affected student veterans to achieve success in the long term by first helping them adapt and integrate into higher education and civilian society by association.

RESEARCH METHODOLOGY AND DESIGN

The current study used a mixed-methods research design, which is a procedure for collecting, analyzing, and using both quantitative and qualitative data. Creswell (2002) pointed out that the main aim of using a mixed-methods approach is to understand a research problem more completely since neither qualitative nor qualitative method is sufficient to capture the complex details of a situation (Wipulanusat et al., 2020). In a quantitative research approach, the researcher relies on numerical data; in other words, data or information that can be quantified (Allwood, 2012, Apuke, 2017). A researcher mainly isolates the different variables and causally relates them to determine the level of the connections (Arghode, 2012). In addition, quantitative research allows the researcher to determine the different variables to investigate as well as choosing the research instruments that may likely lead to reliable and valid results.

On the other hand, a qualitative research methodology functions as an inquiry process of understanding intended to develop a complex, holistic picture by conducting the study in its natural setting and analyzing words and detailed views of research respondents (Teherani et al., 2015). In qualitative research, the researcher develop knowledge claims based on the constructivist or participatory perspectives, meaning that they mostly construct their meanings as opposed to relying on data (Duckles et al., 2019). In addition, the qualitative research methodology also involves the collection of data from parties in the natural setting (Alase, 2017). In the end, the methodology allows the researchers to produce an answer to the research problem on the basis of different contextual factors.

The mixed-methods approach has a key advantage in research in that both methods complement each other and allow for a complete analysis of the research question (Bowen et al., 2017; Doyle et al., 2016). According to Creswell (2003), the mixed-methods approach involves the researcher developing knowledge on pragmatic grounds and defining the truth instead of finding it. In a mixed methodology, the researcher is tasked with choosing the variables and units of analysis depending on what they consider to be the most effective approach to answering the research problem. The main rationale behind the choice of the mixed-method approach is that the researcher is able to collect both numerical and textual data, which enables them to better understand and discuss the research issue under study. Then, as Tashakkori and Teddlie (2003) pointed out, the mixing of the two kinds of data happens at some point in the research process within a single study after the data has been collected.

The current study also made use of the sequential explanatory design (Bowen et al., 2017). In this design, the data are collected over a period of time in two consecutive phases, and the findings from the first phase inform the data collection of the second phase. In the current study before the data collection began, I created the questionnaire and also drafted the guiding questions to be used in the interview because they were required for the IRB proposal. The initial phase involved the collection of quantitative data through the use of the questionnaire. I analyzed the quantitative data by counting the frequency of responses and identifying trends in their responses. I then used the insights from the analysis of quantitative data to revise the guiding questions I had drafted. Then, the second phase involved the collection of qualitative data from different respondents using semi-structured interviews. Revised guiding questions were used to determine

student veterans' personal views on issues that were raised in the questionnaire and were relevant to the research questions (Dugas et al., 2017). The quantitative data provided a general picture of the research issue, while the qualitative data explored personal experiences in depth.

Recruitment of Participants

The target population of this study was the student veterans at ASU, including online and in-person students and full-time and part-time students. They had to be enrolled and active students in the university environment for over a year.

Participants were recruited using the convenience sampling method, which involves recruiting participants based on accessibility (Lavrakas, 2008). The main advantage of using the convenience sampling method is that it is prompt, cheap, and uncomplicated when it comes to planning and carrying out the procedures (Etikan et al., 2016). This is particularly convenient when the target population is large, as in the case of the current study, which took place in a large university. In addition, the convenience sampling method was appropriate because additional inputs were not necessary for the research process (Farrokhi & Mahmoudi-Hamidabad, 2012). That is, anyone who met the criteria outlined above was eligible to participate in the study.

The actual recruitment was done in collaboration with the Veterans Center at ASU. I prepared the recruitment letter and questionnaire, had them approved by the IRB (Appendix A), and shared them with the Veterans Center staff. The staff then sent the email to all student veterans at ASU on my behalf. The email was sent out twice by the Veterans Center at ASU to approximately 300 student veterans and 149 student veterans, and 149 student veterans responded.

For the interview, one of the survey questions functioned as the recruitment tool.

One of the questions asked if they were willing to participate in the follow-up interviews.

11 of the 149 survey participants indicated their willingness and they all participated in the interview phase of the study.

Data Collection Instruments

The data collection instrument used in the quantitative research phase was a questionnaire (Appendix D). The questionnaire included multiple-choice questions and dichotomous yes/no answers. The questionnaire consisted of multiple questions organized into a number of sections. The first section of the questionnaire included demographic questions, including participant's age, gender, employment, years on campus, years since last active military duty, and degree pursued. The second section asked questions regarding the participant's experiences in campus life and the university environment. This section contained questions on their reasons for enrolling at ASU, their experiences, the factors influencing their stay, and whether they felt like continuing or not. The main aim of this section was to collect data on how the higher education environment, classroom environment, and veterans' interaction with other students play a key role in influencing the student veteran's experiences. The next level of the questionnaire involved understanding the level of the participant's comfort in the higher education learning environment and collecting additional data on how personal, institutional, and family factors contribute to the challenges in language use experienced by the student veterans. This segment involved the use of a five-point Likert rating scale from "Strongly disagree" to "Strongly agree."

In the second phase of research, the qualitative phase, the main instrument used in data collection was an in-depth semi-structured interview. The interview protocol involved a total of 15 open-ended questions, which enabled the researcher to obtain detailed information from the respondents (Appendix E). The content of the questions in the interview was based on the questionnaire questions about the challenges in language use the respondents go through in institutions of higher learning. The interview questions focused on the issue of strategies the student veterans used to cope with the challenges in language use in the higher education learning environment.

Both the questionnaire and interview questions were piloted with five student veterans to ensure the clarity of questions and to make sure that the data collection process is not overwhelming to participants.

Quantitative Data Collection and Analysis

The first phase of the research process was quantitative, which involved the use of a questionnaire. As described in an earlier section, the questionnaire had different items touching on the different elements of the study. I used QuestionPro to create and distribute the survey. The statistical analysis of the data was conducted using the Statistical Package for Social Sciences software (SPSS) version 11.0.

Qualitative Data Collection and Analysis

The second phase of the study involved collecting data through interviews and analyzing it. Respondents received the interview questions either through mail or telephone before the actual interview. This was done to ensure that participants are ready to discuss questions in detail when we met. Each interview took approximately 15-20 minutes.

To analyze qualitative data, I used an open coding approach (Strauss and Corbin 1998). Open coding allows the data to speak for itself and invites codes to emerge from the dataset. The analysis involved several stages. After I transcribed all interviews, I engaged in the recursive reading of data and identified recurring themes. Then I went back to the data and identified sections where those themes were present. Each theme was further broken down into codes, more specific and narrower manifestations of themes. This process itself was bi-directional and recursive. That is, the analysis of data through themes gave me insights to revise the list of themes, and identifying codes sometimes led to the revision of themes. The process was enlivened by my knowledge of the literature, but, as the open-coding method demands, was primarily driven by the data itself. In the end, there were 20 themes, which were broken down to 273 codes. A web-centered program called Dedoose was used to organize data and keep track of coding

Assumptions

The following assumptions were made regarding this study:

- The instruments used in this research study would elicit reliable responses.
- Research participants would fully understand the questions they were asked in both the interview and survey.
- Research participants would provide honest and truthful responses to both the survey and interview questions.

Ethical Considerations

Ethical issues were addressed in each phase of the study. For instance, permission for conducting the research was obtained in compliance with the regulations of the Institutional Review Board at ASU.

The second ethical issue taken into consideration was informed consent from the respondents. The informed consent form was developed, stating that the respondents were guaranteed a range of rights, the participation was voluntary, and their rights were protected (See Appendix A).

The third ethical issue taken into consideration was the anonymity of the participants in the research process. In the research study, the anonymity of the respondents was protected by using numerical codes in the questionnaire as opposed to names. The codes also ensured that each participant remained confidential and was not exposed to third parties in the research process. The interview process also involved assigning the respondents numbers in order to keep them anonymous. All the data obtained from the research process was saved in a password-protected computer and locked up in an office cabinet in a secure room in order to avoid breaches by third parties

Researcher Positionality

As a veteran schooling at ASU and pursuing a Ph.D. degree, I understand well the challenges in language use that student veterans go through in higher learning institutions. Besides insights from the literature, I relied heavily on my own experience and intuition as a veteran. For example, in my understanding, student veterans face challenges in language use in higher learning institutions mainly due to having different cultures and personalities interacting in the same limited environment. Also, based on my

experience, I knew that the difference between the military and the higher education culture plays a key role in contributing to the majority of problems experienced by student veterans. In my period of stay at ASU, I came to realize that student veterans only face challenges in language use when interacting with non-veteran students. In most cases, student veterans were at ease while interacting with fellow veterans to the point of even helping each other. Such perspectives influenced the way I designed the study, related to my participants, and analyzed and interpreted data.

Summary

The process of choosing the appropriate methodology and research design for a study plays a key role because the process can either be fruitful or disastrous for the final outcome. The main goal of the current research study was to understand the challenges in language use when it comes to veterans' transition to civilian life in higher education. A mixed-methods approach was a fitting choice since it enabled the researcher to collect, analyze, and discuss both numerical and textual data from the respondents, exploring the research questions in depth.

RESULTS

As I explained in the previous chapter, the study adopted a mixed-method approach to explore various challenges in language use student veterans face when introduced to higher education. This chapter provides an analysis required to make suitable conclusions and answer the research questions. It first presents the demographic information. It then presents the quantitative data, followed by the qualitative data, organized according to the research questions. The complete questionnaire and the list of guiding questions used in the interviews can be found in Appendix D and Appendix E, respectively.

Demographic Information

Gender

Gender was the first demographic characteristic analyzed and presented in the table. The characteristic is integral in describing the tenet of equality of the study as it aims to incorporate all genders and obtain various views from various gender compositions. The descriptive results are presented in Table 1 below.

Table 1 What is your gender?

		_	_		Cumulative
		Frequency	Percent	Valid Percent	Percent
Valid	Male	72	48.3	59.5	59.5
	Female	47	31.5	38.8	98.3
	Non-binary / third gender	2	1.3	1.7	100.0
	Total	121	81.2	100.0	
Total		149	100.0		

Table 1 indicates that the majority of the study participants were male, represented by 59.5 percent. Female respondents made up 38.8 percent of the total respondents. 1.7 percent of the total respondents were binary/third gender.

Age

Based on the results presented in Table 2, 58.7 percent of respondents were aged 25-34 years. The second-largest number of respondents were aged between 35-44 years and were represented by 19 percent of the total respondents. Respondents aged 18-24 years were represented by 15.7 percent. The least number of respondents were above 55 years and made up only 1.7 percent of the total.

Table 2 What is your age?

		Frequency	Percent	Valid Percent	Cumulative Percent
Valid	18-24	19	12.8	15.7	15.7
	25-34	71	47.7	58.7	74.4
	35-44	23	15.4	19.0	93.4
	45-54	6	4.0	5.0	98.3
	55 and older	2	1.3	1.7	100.0
	Total	121	81.2	100.0	
Total		149	100.0		

Branch of Service

Table 3 below indicates the distribution of respondents based on their various branches of service in the military.

Table 3 What is your branch of service?

					Cumulative
		Frequency	Percent	Valid Percent	Percent
Valid	Army	65	43.6	53.7	53.7
	Air Force	17	11.4	14.0	67.8
	Marine Corps	19	12.8	15.7	83.5
	Navy	19	12.8	15.7	99.2
	Coast Guard	1	.7	.8	100.0
	Total	121	81.2	100.0	
Missing	System	28	18.8		
Total		149	100.0		

The table above indicates that the majority of the respondents served in the Army, accounting for 53.7 percent of respondents. Another 15.7 percent of respondents served in the Marine Corps and the Navy. A lower number of respondents served in the Coast Guard and represented only 0.8 percent of the total respondents.

Length of Service in the Military

A total of 54.5 percent of respondents served in the military between 3-6 years, followed by those who served 6-12 years, accounting for 22.3 percent of the total respondents. Only 1.7 percent of respondents served for 12-20 years.

Table 4
How long did you serve in the military?

					Cumulative
		Frequency	Percent	Valid Percent	Percent
Valid	1-3 years	22	14.8	18.2	18.2
	3-6 years	66	44.3	54.5	72.7
	6-12 years	27	18.1	22.3	95.0
	12-20 years	2	1.3	1.7	96.7
	20-40 years	4	2.7	3.3	100.0
	Total	121	81.2	100.0	
Missing	System	28	18.8		
Total		149	100.0		

Prior College Experience before Military Service

This demographic characteristic is essential in describing the effects of prior exposure to academic environment on their adjustment to ASU.

Table 5
Did you have prior college experience before serving in the military?

					Cumulative
		Frequency	Percentile	Valid Percent	Percent
Valid	Yes	84	56.4	69.4	69.4
	No	37	24.8	30.6	100.0
	Total	121	81.2	100.0	
Missing	System	28	18.8		
Total		149	100.0		

When respondents were asked whether they had prior college experience before joining the military, 69.4 percent of respondents selected 'Yes' as the response to the

question. Only 30.6 percent of respondents indicated that they did not possess prior college experience before joining the military and responded 'No' to the question.

Presentation of Quantitative Data

As I explained earlier, the first set of data was quantitative collected through the questionnaire. In this section, the presentation of quantitative data is organized according to the two research questions.

Answers to Research Question 1

The literature points to student veterans facing a number of challenges in language use as they shift from using the military language to the civilian language and the academic language. Research Question 1: What kind of challenges in language use do combat veterans experience as they transition from military to civilian life in higher education? aimed to provide evidence of challenges in language use that student veterans face at ASU

Transition to College in General

There were two questions that asked about the transition to university in general. They are not specifically about language, but they give a general sense of how difficult or easy the transition was.

Table 6
Q1 - As a recent veteran, starting classes at ASU was a big adjustment for me

					Cumulative
		Frequency	Percent	Valid Percent	Percent
Valid	Strongly agree	39	26.2	32.5	32.5
	Agree	48	32.2	40.0	72.5
	Neutral	18	12.1	15.0	87.5
	Disagree	15	10.1	12.5	100.0
	Strongly Disagree	0	0	0	0

Total	120	80.5	100.0	
Missing System	29	19.5		
Total	149	100.0		

Table 6 indicates that most student veterans had challenges in language use associated with adjusting to ASU classes. This was represented by 32.5 percent and 40.0 percent of respondents selecting 'Agree' and 'Strongly Agree' respectively to the statement *As a recent veteran, starting classes at ASU was a big adjustment for me*.

Table 7
Q2 - Before starting classes, I wondered if I had enough academic skills and knowledge to do well at ASU

					Cumulative
		Frequency	Percent	Valid Percent	Percent
Valid	Strongly agree	40	26.8	33.6	33.6
	Agree	48	32.2	40.3	73.9
	Neutral	13	8.7	10.9	84.9
	Disagree	15	10.1	12.6	97.5
	Strongly disagree	3	2.0	2.5	100.0
	Total	119	79.9	100.0	
Missing	System	30	20.1		
Total		149	100.0		

Table 7 indicates that the majority of the respondents (40.34 percent) agreed that before starting classes, they had wondered if they had enough academic skills and knowledge to do well at ASU. In addition, a large percentage of 33.61 percent also strongly agree with the question, with 10.92 percent remaining neutral, 12.61 percent disagreeing and 2.52 percent strongly disagreeing. As shown in this case, a majority of the respondents in the study either agreed or strongly agreed that they had at one time wondered whether they had enough academic skills and knowledge to do well at ASU.

Classroom Communication in General

Some items on the questionnaire were about classroom communication in general.

Two of them specifically asked about academic vocabulary.

Table 8
Q3 - I am confident that I am using appropriate academic vocabulary in my classes

					Cumulative
		Frequency	Percent	Valid Percent	Percent
Valid	Strongly agree	31	20.8	25.8	25.8
	Agree	71	47.7	59.2	85.0
	Neutral	12	8.1	10.0	95.0
	Disagree	6	4.0	5.0	100.0
	Strongly Disagree	0	0.0	0.0	100.0
	Total	120	80.5	100.0	
Total		149	100.0		

The responses indicate that the majority of student veterans are confident that they use the appropriate academic vocabulary. This is supported by 59.2 percent and 25.8 percent selecting 'Agree' and 'Strongly Agree' as responses to the statement, respectively.

Table 9
Q5 - I generally understand academic concepts in written texts for my classes

					Cumulative
		Frequency	Percent	Valid Percent	Percent
Valid	Strongly agree	26	17.4	21.7	21.7
	Agree	71	47.7	59.2	80.8
	Neutral	20	13.4	16.7	97.5
	Strongly disagree	2	1.3	1.7	99.2
	Disagree	1	.7	.8	100.0
	Total	120	80.5	100.0	
Missing	System	29	19.5		
Total		149	100.0		

Table 9 shows that a majority of the respondents at 59.17 percent agree that they generally understand the academic concepts in written texts for their classes. A lower figure of 21.67 percent indicated that they strongly agree, while 16.67 percent indicated that they are neutral. The statistics highlight that a majority of the respondents either agreed or strongly agreed that they generally understood the academic concepts in written texts for their classes.

Other questions examined the student veterans' concerns about being understood.

In Q6, participants were asked if their non-veteran classmates understand the comments they make in class.

Table 10 Q6 - My non-veteran classmates understand the comments I make in class

					Cumulative
		Frequency	Percent	Valid Percent	Percent
Valid	Strongly agree	25	16.8	20.8	20.8
	Agree	59	39.6	49.2	70.0
	Neutral	25	16.8	20.8	90.8
	Strongly disagree	3	2.0	2.5	93.3
	Disagree	8	5.4	6.7	100.0
	Total	120	80.5	100.0	
Missing	System	29	19.5		
Total		149	100.0		

The results indicate that a majority of non-veteran students clearly understand the comments made by student veterans. This was represented by 16.8 percent, indicating that they 'Strongly Agree' with the statement *My non-veteran classmates understand the comments I make in class* while 39.6 percent selected 'Agree' to the statement as indicated in Table 10.

Question 7 of the survey provides an overview of student veterans' communication challenges in language use at ASU.

Table 11 Q7 - I often worry that my comments in class discussions are not clear to non-veteran students

		Frequency	Percent	Valid Percent	Cumulative Percent
Valid	Strongly agree	16	10.7	13.3	13.3
	Agree	52	34.9	43.3	56.7
	Neutral	17	11.4	14.2	70.8
	Disagree	28	18.8	23.3	94.2
	Strongly disagree	7	4.7	5.8	100.0
	Total	120	80.5	100.0	
Missing	System	29	19.5		
Total		149	100.0		

Respondents were asked to indicate the degree to which they agree with the statement *I often worry that my comments in class discussions are not clear to non-veteran students*. The majority of the respondents selected 'Agree' to the statement and represented 34.9 percent, indicating that student veterans faced a huge communication challenge in class.

In addition, participants reported on their overall effectiveness and comfortableness with classroom discussion in Questions 16 and 17.

Table 12 Q17 - I communicate effectively in class

					Cumulative
		Frequency	Percent	Valid Percent	Percent
Valid	Strongly	21	14.1	17.6	17.6
	agree				
	Agree	79	53.0	66.4	84.0
	Neutral	16	10.7	13.4	97.5
	Disagree	3	2.0	2.5	100.0
	Total	119	79.9	100.0	
Missing	System	30	20.1		
Total		149	100.0		

Table 12 shows that a high percentage of 66.39 percent agreed that they communicate effectively in class, while 17.65 percent strongly agreed with the statement. In addition, 13.45 percent of the respondents were neutral in their responses. As shown in this case, a majority of the respondents either agreed or strongly agreed that they communicated effectively in class, highlighting that the majority of the veterans did not have any issue with communication and use of language in the class setting.

Table 13 Q16 - I feel included in class discussions

				Cumulative
	Frequency	Percent	Valid Percent	Percent
Strongly agree	18	12.1	15.1	15.1
Agree	71	47.7	59.7	74.8
Neutral	22	14.8	18.5	93.3
Disagree	6	4.0	5.0	98.3
Strongly disagree	2	1.3	1.7	100.0
Total	119	79.9	100.0	
	149	100.0		
	Agree Neutral Disagree Strongly disagree	Strongly agree 18 Agree 71 Neutral 22 Disagree 6 Strongly disagree 2 Total 119	Strongly agree 18 12.1 Agree 71 47.7 Neutral 22 14.8 Disagree 6 4.0 Strongly disagree 2 1.3 Total 119 79.9	Strongly agree 18 12.1 15.1 Agree 71 47.7 59.7 Neutral 22 14.8 18.5 Disagree 6 4.0 5.0 Strongly disagree 2 1.3 1.7 Total 119 79.9 100.0

The majority of the student veterans selected 'Strongly Agree' and 'Agree' to the statement *I feel included in class discussions*. The responses were represented by 15.13

percent of student veterans selecting 'Strongly Agree' and 59.66 percent selecting 'Agree.'

Interactions with Peers

Some items on the questionnaire specifically asked about veterans' interaction with their peers outside of structured, in-class discussions. The result shows that the majority of student veterans have interaction with their peers.

Table 14: Q11 – I often speak to fellow students during class, either to discuss course material or to have informal conversations

					Cumulative
		Frequency	Percent	Valid Percent	Percent
Valid	Strongly agree	17	11.4	14.3	14.3
	Agree	64	43.0	53.8	68.1
	Neutral	20	13.4	16.8	84.9
	Disagree	10	6.7	8.4	93.3
	Strongly disagree	8	5.4	6.7	100.0
	Total	119	79.9	100.0	
Total		149	100.0		

Question 11 aimed at establishing the degree of challenge student veterans face when socializing with other students. The majority of the students selected 'Strongly Agree' and 'Agree' to Question 11 of the survey, represented by 14.3 percent and 53.8 percent, respectively, indicating that student veterans did not have significant social interaction challenges in language use. Only 5.4 percent and 6.7 percent of student veterans selected 'Strongly Disagree' and 'Disagree' to Question 11.

Table 15
Q12 – I often communicate with fellow students outside of class, either to discuss course material or to have informal communication

					Cumulative
		Frequency	Percent	Valid Percent	Percent
Valid	Strongly agree	16	10.7	13.4	13.4
	Agree	50	33.6	42.0	55.5
	Neutral	22	14.8	18.5	73.9
	Disagree	18	12.1	15.1	89.1
	Strongly disagree	13	8.7	10.9	100.0
	Total	119	79.9	100.0	
Missing	System	30	20.1		
Total		149	100.0		

The table above indicates that 13.4 percent of student veterans 'Strongly Agree' that they communicate with fellow students outside of class about either course materials or have informal discussions. A further 42.0 percent of students indicate that they 'Agree' and have both class and informal communications/discussions with their fellow students outside school. Another 15.13 percent and 10.92 percent of the respondents selected 'Disagree' and 'Strongly Disagree' as the responses to the statement.

Interaction with Instructors

Some of the questionnaire items were about interaction with instructors.

Table 16
Q14 - I am comfortable sharing academic concerns with my instructor

					Cumulative
		Frequency	Percent	Valid Percent	Percent
Valid	Strongly agree	25	16.8	21.0	21.0
	Agree	72	48.3	60.5	81.5
	Neutral	14	9.4	11.8	93.3
	Disagree	8	5.4	6.7	100.0
	Total	119	79.9	100.0	
Missing System		30	20.1		
Total		149	100.0		

Table 16 shows that a majority of the respondents at 60.50 percent are comfortable sharing academic concerns with their instructor. In addition, 21.01 percent strongly agreed, 11.76 percent were neutral in their responses, while 6.72 percent of the respondents disagreed. As shown in this case, a majority of the respondents either agreed or strongly agreed that they were comfortable sharing their academic concerns with their instructors, further showing that communication between the student veterans and the instructors was not an issue for the majority of them.

Also the questions below examined students veterans' interaction with instructors during class.

Table 17 Q9 - I often communicate with my instructor during class

		Frequency	Percent	Valid Percent	Cumulative Percent
Valid	Strongly agree	20	13.4	16.7	16.7
	Agree	69	46.3	57.5	74.2
	Neutral	15	10.1	12.5	86.7
	Disagree	12	8.1	10.0	96.7
	Strongly disagree	4	2.7	3.3	100.0
	Total	120	80.5	100.0	
Missing	System	29	19.5		
Total		149	100.0		

Table 17 shows that a large percentage agree about communication with the instructor as it represents 57.50 percent. In addition, 16.67 percent of the respondents strongly agreed, 12.50 percent were neutral, 10.00 percent disagreed, and less than 3.3 percent strongly disagreed.

Table 18 Q4 - I often ask my instructor for clarification during a lecture

		Frequency	Percent	Valid Percent	Cumulative Percent
Valid	Strongly agree	15	10.1	12.5	12.5
	Agree	41	27.5	34.2	46.7
	Neutral	22	14.8	18.3	65.0
	Disagree	37	24.8	30.8	95.8
	Strongly disagree	5	3.4	4.2	100.0
	Total	120	80.5	100.0	
Missing	System	29	19.5		
Total		149	100.0		

Table 18 indicates that the majority of the respondents agree that they ask their instructors for clarification during a lecture, at 34.17 percent. In addition, a lower percentage of 12.50 percent indicated that they strongly agree, 18.33 percent reported that they are neutral, and a high percentage of 30.83 percent reported that they disagree while 4.17 percent reported that they strongly disagree. In this case, it is shown that a majority of the respondents either agreed or strongly agreed that they asked their instructors for clarifications during a lecture.

Question 10 examined the interaction with the instructor outside the class.

Table 19
Q10 - I often communicate with my instructor outside of class

				Valid	Cumulative
		Frequency	Percent	Percent	Percent
Valid	Strongly agree	21	14.1	17.5	17.5
	Agree	61	40.9	50.8	68.3
	Neutral	21	14.1	17.5	85.8
	Disagree	15	10.1	12.5	98.3
	Strongly	2	1.3	1.7	100.0
	disagree				
	Total	120	80.5	100.0	
Missing	System	29	19.5		
Total		149	100.0		

Table 19 shows that the majority of the respondents, at 50.83 percent, agreed that they often communicate with their instructors outside of class through email, during office hours, or in some other form. In addition, 17.50 percent of the respondents agreed with the statement, 17.50 percent were neutral, 12.50 percent disagreed while none of the respondents strongly disagreed with the statement.

Answers to Research Question 2

Research Question 2 was *How do combat veterans present their identity as* veterans in academic settings? The following survey questions/statements presented in the frequency tables below describe how participants reveal their student veteran status and how they feel about it. It started by asking how strongly they identify as a veteran.

Table 20 Q20 - I strongly identify as a veteran

					Cumulative
		Frequency	Percent	Valid Percent	Percent
Valid	Strongly agree	30	20.1	25.9	25.9
	Agree	53	35.6	45.7	71.6
	Neutral	25	16.8	21.6	93.1
	Disagree	8	5.4	6.9	100.0
	Total	116	77.9	100.0	
Total		149	100.0		

Table 20 above indicates that 25.86 percent of respondents 'Strongly Agree' with the statement 'I strongly identify as a veteran' while 45.69 percent of the respondents 'Agree' with the statement.

Respondents were further asked to indicate how comfortable they generally were in identifying as ASU students and veterans. The responses are provided in the frequency table below.

Table 21 Q21 - I generally feel comfortable being both a veteran and a student on campus

					Cumulative
		Frequency	Percent	Valid Percent	Percent
Valid	Strongly agree	31	20.8	26.7	26.7
	Agree	60	40.3	51.7	78.4
	Neutral	19	12.8	16.4	94.8
	Disagree	4	2.7	3.4	98.3
	Strongly disagree	2	1.3	1.7	100.0
	Total	116	77.9	100.0	
Total		149	100.0		

Respondents who 'Strongly Agree' to the statement were represented by 26.72 percent, while those who 'Agree' with the statement were represented by 51.75 percent

of the total respondents. Therefore, the majority of the student veterans were comfortable identifying as both students and veterans on campus.

Table 22
Q22 - I am comfortable publicly identifying as a veteran on campus in every situation

					Cumulative
		Frequency	Percent	Valid Percent	Percent
Valid	Strongly agree	29	19.5	25.0	25.0
	Agree	48	32.2	41.4	66.4
	Neutral	25	16.8	21.6	87.9
	Disagree	11	7.4	9.5	97.4
	Strongly disagree	3	2.0	2.6	100.0
	Total	116	77.9	100.0	
Total		149	100.0		

The table above indicates that student veterans are comfortable identifying themselves as veterans in public in every campus situation, with 25 percent responding 'Strongly Agree' and 41.4 percent responding 'Agree.' Only 9.5 percent and 2.6 percent of respondents selected 'Disagree' and 'Strongly Agree' as responses to the statement.

There were also a set of questions that asked if student veterans shared their veteran status to others on campus. Statistical analysis results are provided in the frequency tables below.

Table 23 Q23 - I often share my veteran status with my instructors

					Cumulative
		Frequency	Percent	Valid Percent	Percent
Valid	Strongly agree	20	13.4	17.2	17.2
	Agree	44	29.5	37.9	55.2
	Neutral	21	14.1	18.1	73.3
	Disagree	22	14.8	19.0	92.2
	Strongly disagree	9	6.0	7.8	100.0
	Total	116	77.9	100.0	

Table 23 above indicates that most respondents are comfortable sharing their veteran status with instructors. This is supported by the majority of respondents selecting 'Agree' as a response to the statement, 38 percent of the total respondents. A further 19 percent of respondents selected 'Disagree' as the response to the statement.

Table 24
Q24 - I often share my veteran status with my classmates

					Cumulative
		Frequency	Percent	Valid Percent	Percent
Valid	Strongly agree	22	14.8	19.0	19.0
	Agree	42	28.2	36.2	55.2
	Neutral	26	17.4	22.4	77.6
	Disagree	20	13.4	17.2	94.8
	Strongly disagree	6	4.0	5.2	100.0
	Total	116	77.9	100.0	
Missing	System	33	22.1		
Total		149	100.0		

Based on the results presented in Table 24 above, the majority of the respondents are comfortable sharing their veteran status with other students. Responses to the statement *I often share my veteran status with my classmates* were distributed as follows: 19 percent of respondents selected 'Strongly Agree' while 36.2 percent of respondents selected 'Agree.' Respondents who disagreed represented 17.2 percent, and 5.2 percent strongly disagreed.

Furthermore, there was a set of questions that asked participants how comfortable they were talking about various veteran-related matters beyond merely sharing their status.

Table 25
Q15 - I am comfortable sharing veteran-related matters with my instructor (such as doctors' appointments or how my service has impacted my learning needs)

					Cumulative
		Frequency	Percent	Valid Percent	Percent
Valid	Strongly agree	28	18.8	23.5	23.5
	Agree	51	34.2	42.9	66.4
	Neutral	17	11.4	14.3	80.7
	Disagree	16	10.7	13.4	94.1
	Strongly disagree	7	4.7	5.9	100.0
	Total	119	79.9	100.0	
Missing	System	30	20.1		
Total		149	100.0		

Table 25 shows that a majority of the respondents at 42.86 percent agreed that they are comfortable sharing veteran-related matters with their instructors, such as doctors' appointments or how their service impacted their learning needs. In addition, 23.53 percent strongly agreed with the statement, 14.29 percent were neutral in their responses, and 13.45 percent disagreed, while 5.88 percent strongly disagreed.

Table 26
Q13 - I am comfortable bringing up my military experiences as part of class discussions about academic topics

					Cumulative
		Frequency	Percent	Valid Percent	Percent
Valid	Strongly agree	21	14.1	17.6	17.6
	Agree	59	39.6	49.6	67.2
	Neutral	20	13.4	16.8	84.0
	Disagree	14	9.4	11.8	95.8
	Strongly disagree	5	3.4	4.2	100.0
	Total	119	79.9	100.0	
Missing	System	30	20.1		

Total	149	100.0		
-------	-----	-------	--	--

Table 26 shows that the majority of the respondents at 49.58 percent agreed that they are comfortable bringing up their military experiences as part of class discussions about academic topics. In addition, 17.65 percent strongly agreed, 16.81 percent were neutral, 11.76 percent disagreed, and 4.20 percent strongly disagreed.

Qualitative Data

The qualitative data in this section are organized by the two research questions.

Research Question 1

Research Question 1 was What kind of challenges in language use do combat veterans experience as they transition from military to civilian life in higher education?

During the interview, several themes related to language and communication emerged.

They were not always about challenges in language use or problems and thus did not directly answer Research Question 1. But the excerpts shed light on participants' understanding of differences in language use between military and higher education contexts and their process of learning new ways of communication, which are relevant to the question.

More specifically, two themes I introduce here related to different types of languages that participants had to navigate through: military language and academic language.

Military Language

Several veterans pointed out that military language does not work well in the university setting. For example, Participant 2 shared that her experience when using military acronyms caused misunderstandings with others.

So I was during a women's history months, I, you know, as the president of the women veterans club, I, uh, got in touch with another, like, club on, based on a Zoom meeting, like what we were going, like, what events you were going to do personally with my club women, it's called, uh, so the, the, her story events, and she was talking about, uh, this one video and how she wanted more, more people involved. And I said, oh, like, what's, who's the POC for that. I was like, and the girl, girl was like, um, like, uh, point of contact, you know, cause now, now POC is an acronym for people of color.

The influence of military language is not just about vocabulary and acronyms but what they say. When asked, "Have you ever felt that your use of military language caused a conflict or misunderstanding with a classmate?" Participant 6 shared:

Yes, that's definitely happened before, I know that I kind of said something a little bit edgy. And I really was. It was my fault, but I said something a little bit edgy not realizing you know, people don't share the same feelings or outlook that we do in that. It's a little bit it's a little bit different. So now I learned from that situation. So, yeah, completion rate in there I could tell by her reaction that it was like, not good.

However, most veterans seemed to have learned to turn off military language when in class and do not use military language or military acronyms. Participant 8 stated:

I think that's what makes me a little different than the traditional maybe full-time active-duty veteran, because I was a National Guard, so I wasn't, I had a good blend of, you know both worlds and so I was able to kind of balance that with in my civilian life which is this, my school, and going back and forth between

service I was able to. Yeah, I was able to kind of turn it on and off I knew how to do that. yeah, I understand both languages and so I was able to kind of go back and forth kind of like you know when I speak Spanish. And so I'm able to turn it on and off and I know how to interpret both English and Spanish. Same thing with military language, but a nice, the question about Have you ever felt that your use of military language caused conflict or misunderstanding.

What the excerpts seem to suggest is that veterans sometimes accidentally used the military language, and this may have caused some misunderstanding or conflicts, but the problems were not prolonged because they quickly became aware of the differences and learned to turn it off.

Academic Language

Participants also shared their thoughts on and experience with the academic language. One observation made by participants, for example, was how the academic language is different from the civilian language that they use on a daily basis. Because of this, they had to learn a new way of communication. In the following excerpts, for example, a veteran discusses how emailing a professor is not like emailing your friend.

I would say that the only challenge I would have I've gotten over it recently, but it's like emailing professors (language use), 'cause I'll want to be like super duper formal, like doctor, when really you can just, you can just say like, Hey, Bob, you know, get on how to get over that. (Participant 1)

Participant 6 also talked about how learning to "speak in academia" was a challenge when he came to ASU:

Going to see it first I did, I started out in a community college and then kind of moved up from there and the community college was kind of a what we call a degree mill, which is what a lot of military does is just go in there, pretty much as long as you show up you get an A. And then I moved over to ASU, and it was a lot different. So not understanding like the lingo and then not really knowing how to speak in academia.

However, most participants expressed that they have learned the academic language. Participant 6, after expressing the initial challenge (the previous quote), further stated:

The challenge for me at first but now it's very easy now that I've kind of figured out, you know, using that kind of language.

In fact, those who had more exposure to the academic environments seemed to feel more comfortable and had fewer challenge with the academic language. For example, Participant 8 above talked about how being a National Guard and being connected to both military and civilian life, including being in school, had made it easy for her in terms of the language. Participant 2 also said:

I've always been like present in academia. So, um, like, uh, like during my military service, I was like, I took, I would take like one, one course, one or two courses a year. And so I believe that that set me up to still be successful, like with, um, like the verbiage in classes today. Well, uh, to be, just to kind of clarify, since I have not had long gaps in education, I feel like I'm still quote unquote, I'm still in the loop.

However, differences do not always lead to problems. Some participants, for instance, expressed that the academic environment is an open environment and easy to connect with other people and talk freely.

They're pretty easy going and open environment, so it's pretty easy to, to talk openly and feel confident in like you're being accepted. (Participant 1)

These excerpts seem to suggest that, just like the military language, the academic language may have caused some problems at first, but things got easier as they became more fluent in it.

Research Question 2

The second research question was *How do combat veterans present their identity* as veterans in academic settings? During the interview, themes related to identity also emerged. The excerpts below highlight their level of comfort in identifying themselves as student veterans in the university settings and in sharing their military experience.

Revealing Veteran Status

Most veterans who participated in the interviews strongly identified themselves as veterans. For example, Participant 7 said: "I would say I definitely identify very strongly as a veteran. Okay, um, you know, in my bag I still have, you know, like the eagle globe and anchor."

But how comfortable they felt about revealing their veteran status was complex. Some students, like Participant 2, preferred not to share their veteran status with their instructors:

I don't think all of my professors know that I'm a veteran. Oh yeah. Like I, it's not really something that, hi, I'm Elizabeth, I'm a US Air Force veteran. Like I, I don't

introduce myself like that mainly, um, because I don't want them to treat me differently.

Participant 6 also stated:

I tend to try not to bring it up because for one I don't like the tension that I get and for two, I don't want it to be like, I want to get graded for my work and not for my military status.

When it is toward the instructor, the most common reason for hesitation seems to be that they did not want to be treated differently from other students.

With other students, too, there seems to be some hesitation to share their veteran status. Participant 3 stated:

I would, you know, would talk about it, but I wouldn't like to make a conversation specifically just to talk about that. You know, like if it came up, you know, I have no problem talking about it.

Veteran Status and Peer Communication

Another theme that emerged in relation to the veterans' identity was how the shared knowledge of their status affected peer communication. More specifically, in several interviews, participants observed that the conversation about military life and what they experienced in service do not always go well because their non-veteran peers do not understand and could not relate. Participant 1, when asked, "Have you ever tried to have a conversation about your veteran status with the classmates?" responded:

Yeah. I've had some conversations like that in class. Usually [went] really well, usually, you know, that they're, they're accepting and, you know, curious, they might say, "Oh, we know, what'd you do? Like, that's cool. Like, you know, my,

like my brother did this or my cousin did this." Usually it's, it's really good sometimes, it's not, not weird, but just kinda like, not like the conversation doesn't like click and that that's fine too. Cause you know, people have their preferences and stuff, but it's always been fine.

Similarly, this participant stated that most of the time, he does not communicate with non-veterans about the veteran or "military experience" because they do not understand.

It was just, I just described it as a time in my life like oh yeah, I was in the Navy, I don't know, it doesn't really get much deeper than that. I think I've talked to the one other friend who's a veteran in class. We've talked more, because I mean he, I don't know, sometimes I think I don't share it with people because it feels like I'm, I would have to explain a lot, because it's my friend who's a veteran. If we start a conversation and I don't have to like, explain chains of command and certain rules, and I feel like I'm especially with my friends I remember when I was on leave. And I would try to tell them a story about work, it ended up like there's like three four tangents. Because you need all the context for this story that makes sense almost there's like a lot of details right. Yeah, I think maybe that's why I don't really talk to people because it's the themes like work.

They felt that the lack of shared experience prevented them from sharing their military experience—an important part of their veteran identity—with non-veteran peers. Their feeling toward their veteran peers is completely opposite. They often feel they can share more with their veteran peers. For example, Participant 5, quoted above, said:

And with somebody who's already a veteran it's like, easy to talk about it. Yeah, that's right I, I've been on, I think you're on sort of the same, the same previous answers I got also from other student veterans, they, they have the same thing, you know.

Participant 10 went further to say that student veterans can often spot each other, and their shared experience brings them closer:

It was never really initiated. Because somehow like for me I could tell who's a student veteran and whatnot because we have this kind of low face, and just kind of like a relaxed, carefree kind of attitude and whatnot. And there's an aura that is presented among us and the students would sometimes naturally approach us and say, "Are you, you know? Are you a student veteran and whatnot." Sometimes it piques their curiosity of who we are, what our stories are in, they become interested in, then we develop friendships, through that.

What these excerpts seem to show is that student veterans are aware of how their veteran status affects their interaction with their peers and are conscious of it when they reveal their status.

Summary

This chapter presented a detailed analysis of data collected through a quantitative and qualitative approach. The results obtained were used to provide answers to the two main research questions of this study, first demographic data and then quantitative and qualitative data that relate to the research questions. In the next chapter, I will attempt to

answer the research questions more fully by integrating findings from both quantitative and qualitative analysis and connecting them back to the existing literature.

DISCUSSION

The detailed discussion of the findings in this chapter links them to past and present studies and the study's theoretical framework. Ochs and Schieffelin (2008) explain the nexus between language use, socialization, and transitioning to a new environment, which dovetails with answering the first research question on challenges in language use student veterans face in higher education institutions. The second question involved examining how combat veterans at ASU present their identity as veterans in academic settings. In addition to answering these questions, this chapter shows how this study contributes to existing scholarly conversations.

Research Question 1

The first research question was What kind of challenges in language use do combat veterans experience as they transition from military to civilian life in higher education? Overall, the findings suggested that there were some challenges emerging from the differences between military and academic languages and participants were often concerned if their non-veteran peers understood them or not. However, the data also showed that student veterans eventually learned the academic language through being in an academic environment and thus initial challenges in language use were solved over time.

Previous literature including Shpeer (2019), Ahern et al. (2015), and Howe and Shpeer (2019) have found that student veterans face a number of challenges in language use when transitioning to civilian life in higher education, including communication problems based on cultural clashes and differences in language use. Other studies have particularly pointed to communication difficulties, which is what led the researcher to

choose this topic for the current study. For example, a study by Howe and Shpeer (2019) indicated that despite having prior academic knowledge and experience and speaking the same native language in the military and school environment, language use is a challenge to student veterans. Hayes and Matthew (2014) suggested that student veterans often practice self-silencing due to differences in military and school environment systems; hence communication and language use may be challenging. Also, the study by Wand (2013) showed that most student veterans face challenges in their quest toward integrating into a civilian environment and experience stress, anxiety, lack of relevant skills, coping difficulties, inability to grasp abstract thoughts, and immense difficulties in expressing themselves as a result. Consequently, Bustamante et al. (2018) stated that as student veterans migrate to a new school environment, they experience migration stress as they try to adapt to a new community. Joshua at el. (2016) supported these findings by indicating that student veterans face mental challenges due to migration stress as they attempt to assimilate to a new community.

The literature points to student veterans facing challenges as they shift from using the military language to using the civilian language in general and the academic language specifically. Even though the literature points to these issues, the responses of student veterans in this study indicated that challenges in language use are not a great concern for them. Quantitative data analysis indicates that most student veterans were confident that they were using the correct academic vocabulary in class. The majority of participants interviewed did not experience any challenges in language use. When asked, "Have you felt that you did not possess the language skill to participate in academic conversations in class?" participants such as 6 and 11 answered by indicating that they did not face any

communication and language use challenges in language use in class. Communication between fellow students and instructors seemed also strong.

Another area discussed in the literature is the culture clash between veteran and non-veteran students. For example, Shpeer (2019) indicated that student veterans faced challenges in language use due to cultural clashes between the cultural differences between military and civilian life. The findings are further supported by the language socialization theory as presented by Sook Lee and Bucholtz (2015), who explained the relationship between language use, socialization, and cultural differences and homogeneity in a new environment. In addition, Garret (2008) utilized the language socialization theory in their findings and argued that socialization is made possible through a link between language and culture. The qualitative findings of the study also supported that the culture clash caused by differences in language existed, which may ultimately hurt socializing efforts between veteran and non-veteran students. When asked, "Have you ever felt that you already use of military language has caused a conflict or misunderstanding with a classmate?" Participant 6 responded: "Yes, that's definitely happened before."

Socialization is another major area where previous research has explored challenges in language use for student veterans. According to Sook Lee and Bucholtz (2015), language socialization refers to the "process by which individuals acquire, reproduce, and transform the knowledge and competence that enable them to participate appropriately within specific communities of language users" (p. 319). The language socialization theory explained by Sook Lee and Bucholtz (2015) further indicates that the

use of appropriate academic and non-academic language promotes socialization among students and helps student veterans learn academic concepts.

Guardado (2018) used language socialization theory to indicate that language is a tool for communication that also creates strong social ties. By reducing the challenges in language use, student veterans learn to socialize with non-veteran students in a new environment, hence speeding up their transition to civilian life. Garrett (2008) and Poth et al. (2015) supported this conclusion in their findings by stating that the language socialization explains the nexus between language use and social learning in any environment. These findings are consistent with those of Jacobs (2014), who stated that language use and communication in higher education help to integrate student veterans into the school environment by bringing both veteran and non-veteran students together, despite the differences in military and non-military culture. What these studies suggest is that socializing with peers is one critical way to become socialized into a new, academic community. In this case, socializing refers to the action or practice of participating in social activities or mixing socially with others, while being socialized refers to an individual or group of individuals having been made to behave in a way that is acceptable to a particular society.

To evaluate whether this was a challenge for student veterans at ASU, participants were asked to state the degree to which they agree with the statement *I often speak to fellow students during class, either to discuss academic material or to have a formal conversation.* The majority of the participants selected 'Strongly Agree' and 'Agree' as responses to the statement. The findings indicate that student veterans did not find it difficult to create social ties with other students based on academic and non-academic

conversations. Therefore, previous studies are different from the findings of this study regarding socialization challenges in language use.

The only major challenge that a majority of participants agreed on was adjusting to the university environment and academic language used at ASU after being deployed in the military. Students were asked to indicate the degree to which they agree with the survey question, As a recent veteran student, starting classes at ASU was a big adjustment for me. 'Strongly Agree' and 'Agree' were selected as responses to this particular survey statement by 32.5 percent and 40 percent of the participants respectively. Qualitative data provides evidence indicating that student veterans faced various adjustment challenges. Participant 5 states:

I thought I had filled a form out, but I was wrong, so I wasn't going to receive the Navy payment for it. In the next month. So I started off slow, but I got on track, I would say.

I do not think it was too hard. I know that we did talk about college enrollments and all that when I left the Navy like we did those trainings, but that was last November for me, so I don't, I definitely didn't remember like I wasn't super prepared to do it.

Although many participants expressed similar struggles, there were also a few who did not. For example, Participant 1 of the study did not face adjustment challenges. The quoted excerpt below provides evidence of a student who did not have enrollment challenges in language use:

I think it was a good experience. I think, I, I think it was pretty straightforward and I may have emailed my advisors once or twice, but I think I had a pretty easy time doing it and things were pretty self-explanatory.

The majority of the student veterans in this sample, however, faced adjustment challenges when transitioning to a civil environment at ASU, but some students did not encounter any problems.

The current study's findings are consistent with those of Livingston and Bauman (2013), who described student veterans' transitioning and adjustment phase into a higher education environment after the redeployment process. Their findings indicated that the transition phase among student veterans ushered them into an environment significantly different from they were used to. Therefore, they require new social and academic skills and knowledge to blend into their new environment. Veterans require time to master various cultures and concepts in the university environment, and the process may take a while.

These findings are backed by previous studies that consider the nexus between language and socialization. For example, Rassokha (2010) indicated that while student veterans and non-veteran students have different language use based on their life experiences, they are brought together as classmates through a common academic language and dialect. These findings can be understood through the research of Howe and Shpeer (2019), whose perspective-taking approach indicates that the social norms, identities, beliefs, and cultures of different groups are created based on the interactions that lead to comparisons between groups with different social norms and beliefs. Ochs and Schieffelin (2008) similarly indicated that both language and socialization influence

the process of identity formation and acceptance. The language socialization framework Sook Lee and Bucholtz (2015) used in this study helps to explain how student veterans create social ties and communicate beliefs and different issues with different groups of people (Darvin & Norton, 2015).

Supporting evidence on the nexus between language and socialization is further provided by Hayden et al. (2014), who indicated that transitioning to a new environment from military duties proves challenging to student veterans and that most student veterans are walking into a higher education environment without prior experience and knowledge of life in higher education learning institutions; thus, they require a road map/direction for guidance toward adjustment and transition. For example, in a school environment, the system is intended to benefit all students and aims to create uniformity; however, the approach of educational institutions, which is based on quality, may end up being less inclusive to other students, especially military students, who need different kinds of support (Smith-Osborne, 2012). In this study, Participant 6 talked about the role of knowing academic "lingo" in their transition. He stated: "Then I moved over to ASU, and it was a lot different. So not understanding like the lingo and then not really knowing how to speak in academia." This excerpt indicates that student veterans may not understand the various components of the school environment and may require guidance and help.

One important point of discussion in relation to language and communication was whether participants felt comfortable with classmates. Participants were asked to indicate whether they felt included in in-class discussions in this study. Of the respondents, 59.7 percent and 15.1 percent respectively indicated that they felt included in class discussions

by selecting 'Agree' and 'Strongly Agree' to the statement, *I feel included in class* discussions. These findings are expected, especially when students do not face significant language and communication challenges in language use. Therefore, the findings on the challenges in language use that student veterans face point toward mixed responses. The majority of responses indicate that they do not face challenges in language use, but some interviewees indicated that they faced some challenges in language use which were attributed to the use of the military language in academic settings. Adjustment challenges in language use beleaguer student veterans as they are ushered into a civilian environment.

Research Question 2

The second research question explored how combat veterans present their identity as veterans in academic settings.

Quantitative analysis results show that most of the respondents strongly identified as student veterans on campus and they had no problem identifying as student veterans to instructors, non-veteran students, and fellow student veterans.

The quantitative data analysis supports that the student veterans in the sample were comfortable being both students and veterans. A huge percentage of respondents stated that they were comfortable being both veterans and students (25 percent and 41 percent of respondents selected 'Agree' and 'Strongly Agree' to the statement *I am comfortable publicly identifying as a veteran on campus in every situation*). Only 9.5 percent and 2.65 of respondents selected 'Disagree' and 'Strongly Disagree' as responses to the statement.

The combat veteran conceptual identity model developed by Hammond (2015) supports the study's findings. The model is made up of a major aspect, the core identity, and five other essential elements, including the inferred perception of self, perception of self, perception of others, civilian interactions, and connections to other veterans.

According to the model, the self-perception explains high levels of comfort among student veterans in their veteran status and sharing veteran experiences based on what they think of themselves. Therefore, student veterans are comfortable with their veteran status and sharing their veteran experiences with other students since they are inferred positively. The fact that the student veterans in the study are comfortable identifying as both students and veterans offers an assumption that veterans feel their military language and culture knowledge is compatible with the academic environment, thus allowing them to form social connections with non-veteran and student veterans.

Another key segment of the study is examining how veterans feel about sharing their status and experience with instructors. Quantitative data analysis results indicate that 37.2 percent of the respondents agree that they are comfortable sharing their veteran status and experiences with instructors. Only 19.0 percent and 7.8 percent indicate that they disagree and are not comfortable sharing their veteran status with instructors. Due to the curiosity of instructors, many participants comfortably share their veteran status and military experiences in class, thus creating strong social bonds with instructors.

Classmates were also curious about student veterans' military experiences.

Participant 1 had no problem sharing his veteran experiences and status with students and instructors in class.

Yeah, so I've always, either felt like it was indifference. Like it, like, it didn't like, it sort of didn't matter my status which is, which is fine. I almost prefer that. And then the only other time besides that is I felt like almost just like more curiosity and almost like, like acceptance in a way, but yeah, so sort of someone being like I think I've had a professor saying like, oh, that's really cool. Like, if you don't mind me asking, 'what'd you do' like you know like 'how was that experience?' Cause I was, you know, like involved with that professor in a project. So it was just my sort of talk to him about it. So it's always either been like indifferent or positive

A particular avenue for creating bonds with non-veteran students came about when non-veteran students revealed that their parents and relatives are also veterans. The work of Ou and Gu (2021) back up these findings, as their study indicates that socialization, identity, and language use play a significant role in creating avenues for interactions and the formation of relationships in various environments. Olsen et al. (2014) and Osborne (2014) also pointed out the negative consequences of student veterans not receiving acceptance; their studies found that the majority of student veterans feel isolated when instructors and other students do not recognize them as veterans, since denying this part of their identity means that these individuals fail to understand the unique challenges in language use student veterans undergo.

Student veterans also feel more supported when they have other student veterans in their classes or know that other students are easily accessible on campus. A study by Hammond (2015) indicated that student veterans feel comfortable and supported when they are among fellow student veterans since they feel freer to share their experiences and to publicly identify as student veterans. Vacci et al. (2017) also found that student

veterans strongly identify with their veteran status with both students and school administrators when they receive support and aid for their special needs and challenges in language use in their new higher education environment.

Therefore, student veterans in the sample strongly identified as veterans, and were generally comfortable sharing their experiences at ASU, which opens up opportunities for comparisons, mutual respect, interactions, and the formation of relationships with fellow student veterans. When it comes to the interaction with non-veteran students or instructors, some were reluctant because they felt they will not be understood ors they may be treated differently.

Summary

The chapter answered the research questions by summarizing the findings of the current study and comparing and contrasting them to findings from past studies. While the literature indicates that student veterans experience challenges in language use, the findings of this study indicate that the majority of the participants in the study did not face these challenges in language use. The only challenge they mentioned was their transition to classes at ASU. Findings also suggested that student veterans feel comfortable identifying as students and veterans. They are, however, aware that people may treat them differently because of their veteran status and they are thus very intentional about how much to share with their instructors, veteran students, and non-veteran students.

CONCLUSION

When introduced to a new environment, people experience challenges because they have to learn new rules and expectations in language use. They need various strategies to enhance their flexibility and adaptability so that they can transition to the new environment successfully. The aim of the current study was to understand the process of transition from military life to academic life. Previous studies suggested that student veterans face challenges across social, academic, mental, and physical spheres. This mixed-method study focused specifically on challenges in language use.

The first research question of the study was: What kind of challenges do combat veterans experience in language use as they transition from military to civilian life in higher education? The findings suggested that most participants did not experience substantial challenges in language use, although there were some that could be attributed to the differences between military language and academic language. The findings also showed that these challenges decrease as student veterans learn more academic language and learn to "turn off" the military language. And student veterans who had college experience before joining the military had a slight advantage, having had experience using the academic language before. Students also mentioned that things got easier once they learned academic language. This seems to point to the role of language learning in the process of socialization (Sook Lee & Bucholtz, 2015).

The second research question of the study was: How do combat veterans present their identity as veterans in academic settings? Student veterans in the sample strongly identified as veterans and were generally comfortable sharing their veteran status with others at ASU, which opens up opportunities for comparisons, mutual respect,

interactions, and the formation of relationships with other student veterans. However, sometimes they hesitate to share their veteran status. They think it is too complicated to go deeper into conversation about the military experience because non-veteran students would not understand. They are also afraid that their instructors may treat them differently. This shows that student veterans understand the effects of their veteran status in their relationship with others and they carefully decide when and how they share their status with others

Limitations of the Study and Suggestions for Future Research

The current study had some limitations that call for future research.

Number of Participants

One of the key limitations of the study is the limited number of participants. I had difficulties recruiting enough participants for both the survey and the interviews. This negatively affected the quality of the study. A smaller sample decreased the power of findings because it limited the options in statistical analysis. It also means that the findings may not be generalizable because only a small fraction of the target population was included in the study. One of the reasons for this limitation may be that student veterans were hesitant to disclose information about their military life or they felt vulnerable to link their experience to challenges they are facing. In future studies, mitigation strategies should be used. For example, first, researchers should fully disclose the purpose of the study to respondents to build a sense of trust. Secondly, researchers should assure participants that their anonymity is protected. This was done in the recruitment letter in the current study, but it may not have been enough to build enough trust between the researcher and the participants.

Target Population

The target population of this study was ASU student veterans, and it had its limitations. First, it was limited to ASU students. It was necessary in order to make the study manageable, but the limitation is that it is not possible to tell if the challenges found in the study are unique to ASU or apply to all academic contexts. In the future, similar studies should be conducted in other universities and community colleges.

Another limitation was that the population included only veterans. It did not include non-veteran students. It was so because the focus of the study was the experience of veteran students. However, because there was no control group, it is not possible to tell if the findings are unique to veteran students or if they apply to all students. Future studies should be conducted to compare and contrast between the two populations.

Self-Reported Data

Another limitation of the study is that the study relied exclusively on self-reported data from the participants. Even if participants were honest, there may be a gap between what they reported and what they actually experienced. This is a limitation of studies based on the survey and interview. In the future, research that studies the actual experience of veterans should be conducted so that it can verify the findings from the current study.

Questionnaire Design

There were also some limitations to the questionnaire. I tried to write questionnaire items carefully, based on previous literature and my own experience as a veteran. It is possible that the focus of the questions and wording of the questions were biased, and they highlighted certain types of challenges more than others or skewed the

data in some ways. If a similar study is conducted in the future, the instrument should be revised and made neutral. Also, open-ended questions or interviews can be used to address these limitations because participants can talk about issues the questionnaire does not cover.

Study on the Resource Center

One area the current study did not specifically explore but should be investigated more is the role of on-campus resource centers in student veterans' transition. Although universities are interested in supporting veterans and various services are provided through the resource centers, I did not find any study that investigated how resource centers can assist student veterans in language use. It would be useful to know how resource centers can help student veterans learn the academic language so that they can transition smoothly.

Summary

Student veterans who have recently returned from deployment are at a disadvantage when seeking to be part of their new civilian environment, especially in higher education institutions. It is incumbent upon society to facilitate their smooth transition based on their service to the country.

The current study adds insights to the pool of knowledge and practices regarding student veterans' transitions from a language perspective. The study illuminated challenges in language use that are often experienced in the transition from a military environment to a civilian environment. It also showed that such challenges are not beyond mitigation as long as the right environment and resources are available to assist

students. In other words, a smooth transition is a collaborative process that entails creating synergies between the school community and students.

It is my hope that the findings of this study help researchers and university administrators understand and appreciate student veterans' backgrounds and think through how the university can support student veterans' success. Higher education institutions can better equip students with the necessary knowledge and skills for employment and create awareness of the importance of accommodating different cultures and strengthening social ties among all students, including student veterans.

REFERENCES

- Abrams, R. M. (1989). The US military and higher education: A brief history. *The ANNALS of the American Academy of Political and Social Science*, 502(1), 15-28. https://doi.org/10.1177/0002716289502001002
- Ahern, J., Worthen, M., Masters, J., Lippman, S. A., Ozer, E. J., & Moos, R. (2015). The challenges of Afghanistan and Iraq veterans' transition from military to civilian life and approaches to reconnection. *PloS one*, *10*(7), e0128599. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0128599
- Aikins, R. D., Golub, A., & Bennett, A. S. (2015). Readjustment of urban veterans: A mental health and substance use profile of Iraq and Afghanistan veterans in higher education. *Journal of American College Health*, 63(7), 482-494. https://doi.org/10.1080/07448481.2015.1068173
- Alase, A. (2017). The interpretative phenomenological analysis (IPA): A guide to a good qualitative research approach. *International Journal of Education and Literacy Studies*, 5(2), 9-19.
- Allwood, C. M. (2012). The distinction between qualitative and quantitative research methods is problematic. *Quality & Quantity*, 46(5), 1417-1429.
- Altschuler, G., & Blumin, S. (2009). The GI Bill: The new deal for veterans. Oxford University Press.
- Ames, H., Glenton, C., & Lewin, S. (2019). Purposive sampling in a qualitative evidence synthesis: A worked example from a synthesis on parental perceptions of vaccination communication. *BMC Medical Research Methodology*, *19*(1). https://doi.org/10.1186/s12874-019-0665-4
- Apuke, O. D. (2017). Quantitative research methods: A synopsis approach. *Kuwait Chapter of Arabian Journal of Business and Management Review*, 33(5471), 1-8.
- Arghode, V. (2012). Qualitative and Quantitative Research: Paradigmatic Differences. Global Education Journal, 2012(4).
- Astin, A. (2011). What matters to veterans: Peer influences and the campus environment. *ASHE Higher Education Report*, *37*(3), 21-33. Retrieved from https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/
- Badara, M. A. S., & Saidin, S. Z. (2014). Internal audit effectiveness: Data screening and preliminary analysis. *Asian Social Science*, 10(10), 76-85.

- Barry, A. E., Whiteman, S. D., & MacDermid Wadsworth, S. (2014). Student service members/veterans in higher education: A systematic review. *Journal of Student Affairs Research and Practice*, 51(1), 30-42.
- Barry, A. E., Whiteman, S., Wadswroth, S.M., & Hitt, S. (2012). The alcohol use and associated mental health problems of student service members/veterans in higher education. *Drugs: Education, Prevention and Policy*, *19*(5), 415-425. https://doi.org/10.3109/09687637.2011.647123
- Bell, B. (2017). In and out: Veterans in transition and higher education. *Strategic Enrollment Management Quarterly*, 5(3), 128-134. https://doi.org/10.1002/sem3.20111
- Blaauw-Hara, M. (2016). "The military taught me how to study, how to work hard": Helping student-veterans transition by building on their strengths. *Community College Journal of Research and Practice*, 40(10), 809-823.
- Blackwell-Starnes, K. (2018). At ease: Developing veterans' sense of belonging in the college classroom. *Journal of Veterans Studies*, 3(1), 18-36.
- Bond Hill, C., Kurzweil, M., Davidson Pisacreta, E., & Schwartz, E. (2019). Enrolling more veterans at high-graduation-rate colleges and universities.
- Borsari, B., Yurasek, A., Miller, M. B., Murphy, J. G., McDevitt-Murphy, M. E., Martens, M. P., Darcy, M. G., & Carey, K. B. (2017). Student service members/veterans on campus: Challenges for re-integration. *American Journal of Orthopsychiatry*, 87(2), 166-175. https://doi.org/10.1037/ort0000199
- Bowen, P., Rose, R., & Pilkington, A. (2017). Mixed methods-theory and practice. Sequential, explanatory approach. *International Journal of Quantitative and Qualitative Research Methods*, 5(2), 10-27.
- Brown, P. A., & Gross, C. (2011). Serving those who have served—Managing veteran and military student best practices. *The Journal of Continuing Higher Education*, 59(1), 45-49. https://doi.org/10.1080/07377363.2011.544982
- Burdelski, M. J., & Howard, K. M. (Eds.). (2020). Language socialization in classrooms: Culture, interaction, and language development. Cambridge University Press.
- Bustamante, L., Cerqueira, R., Leclerc, E., & Brietzke, E. (2018). Stress, trauma, and posttraumatic stress disorder in migrants: a comprehensive review. *Revista Brasileira de Psiquiatria*, 40(2), 220-225. https://doi.org/10.1590/1516-4446-2017-2290

- Byrne, A. (1988). The process of adult socialization to higher education. *Equity & Excellence*, 24(3), 9-10.
- Canfield, J., & Weiss, E. L. (2015). Student veterans and mental health: Post-traumatic stress in the classroom. In J. E. Coll & E. L. Weiss (Eds.), Supporting veterans in higher education: A primer for administrators, faculty, and academic advisors (pp. 260–287). Chicago: Lyceum Books.
- Caspers, S., & Ackerman, R. (2012). Contemporary political and legislative frameworks for serving veterans and service members. In F. A. Hamrick & C. B. Rumann (Eds.), Called to serve: A handbook on student veterans and higher education (pp. 20–38). San Francisco, CA: Jossey-Bass.
- College resources for veterans and their families. (2021, June 21). Accredited Schools Online. https://www.accreditedschoolsonline.org/resources/higher-education-for-military-veterans/
- Connelly, L. M. (2013). Limitation section. Medsurg Nursing, 22(5), 325.
- Cooper, L., Caddick, N., Godier, L., Cooper, A., & Fossey, M. (2018). Transition from the military into civilian life: An exploration of cultural competence. *Armed Forces and Society*, 44(1), 156-177. https://doi.org/10.1177/0095327X16675965
- Cox, C. W. (2019). Military students' strengths and challenges based on their military experiences: An integrative review. *Journal of Nursing Education*, 58(7), 392-400. https://doi.org/10.3928/01484834-20190614-03
- Creswell, J. W. (2002). Educational research: Planning, conducting, and evaluating quantitative and qualitative approaches to research. Merrill/Pearson Education.
- Daly, D. D., & Fox Garrity, B. K. (2013). From boots on the ground to seats in the classroom: An assessment of institutional structure and veteran students. *American Journal of Business Research*, 6(1), 5-17. Retrieved from https://www.journals.elsevier.com/journal-of-business-research/
- Darvin, R., & Norton, B. (2015). Identity and a model of investment in applied linguistics. Annual Review of Applied Linguistics, 35, 36-56.
- Dean, T., Carl, H.S., & Cordelia, D.Z. (2020). Social integration of Student Veterans: The Influence of Interactions with Faculty on Peer Group Interactions. *Journal of Veterans Studies*, 6(2), 20 29. https://doi.org/10.21061/jvs.v6i2.188
- DeCoster, V. A. (2018). The needs of military veterans returning to college after service. *International Journal of Arts & Sciences*, 11(1), 11-19.

- Department of Defense. (2016). 2015 demographics: Profile of the military community. Retrieved from http://download.militaryonesource.mil/12038/MOS/Reports/2015-DemographicsReport.pdf
- DeSimone, J. A., Harms, P. D., & DeSimone, A. J. (2015). Best practice recommendations for data screening. *Journal of Organizational Behavior*, 36(2), 171-181.
- DiRamio, D., Ackerman, R., & Mitchell, R. L. (2008). From combat to campus: Voices of student-veterans. *Journal of Student Affairs Research and Practice*, 45(1). https://doi.org/10.2202/1949-6605.1908
- Dortch, C. (2012, October). G.I. Bills Enacted Prior to 2008 and Related Veterans' Educational Assistance Programs: A Primer. Library of Congress, Congressional Research Service.
- Dortch, C. (2012, September). The post-9/11 veterans educational assistance act of 2008 (post-9/11 G.I. bill): Primer and issues. Congressional Research Service, Library of Congress.
- Dougherty, J. (2015). The impact of military experience on the higher education experiences of veterans. Illinois State University.
- Dougherty, J. S. (2015). The impact of military experience on the higher education experiences of veterans. ProQuest Dissertations Publishing.
- Doyle, L., Brady, A., & Byrne, G. (2016). An overview of mixed methods research—revisited. *Journal of Research in Nursing*, 21(8), 623-635. https://doi.org/10.1177/1744987116674257
- Duckles, J. M., Moses, G., & Moses, R. (2019). Community-based participatory research and constructivist grounded theory: Aligning transformative research with local ways of being and knowing. The SAGE handbook of current developments in grounded theory, 630-648.
- Duff, P. A. (2010). Language socialization into academic discourse communities. *Annual Review of Applied Linguistics*, *30*, 169-192.
- Dugas, M., Trottier, M. È., Dansokho, S. C., Vaisson, G., Provencher, T., Colquhoun, H., ... & Witteman, H. O. (2017). Involving members of vulnerable populations in the development of patient decision aids: a mixed methods sequential explanatory study. *BMC Medical Informatics and Decision Making*, 17(1), 1-11.

- Dunivin, K. O. (1994). Military culture: Change and continuity. *Armed Forces & Society*, 20(4), 531-547.
- Emmel, N. (2013). Purposeful sampling. In Sampling and choosing cases in qualitative research: A realist approach, Sage, pp. 33-45.
- Etikan, I., Musa, S. A., & Alkassim, R. S. (2016). Comparison of convenience sampling and purposive sampling. *American Journal of Theoretical and Applied Statistics*, 5(1), 1-4.
- Farrokhi, F., & Mahmoudi-Hamidabad, A. (2012). Rethinking convenience sampling: Defining quality criteria. *Theory & Practice in Language Studies*, 2(4).
- Gallois, C., & Giles, H. (2015). Communication accommodation theory. *The International Encyclopedia of Language and Social Interaction*, 1-18. https://doi.org/10.1002/9781118611463.wbielsi066
- Garrett, P. B. (2008). Researching language socialization. In K. A. King & N. H. Hornberger (Eds.), *Encyclopedia of language and education. Vol. 10, Research methods in language and education* (2nd ed., pp. 189-201). Springer.
- Gasiorek, J., & Ebesu Hubbard, A. S. (2017). Perspectives on perspective-taking in communication research. *Review of Communication*, *17*(2), 87-105. https://doi.org/10.1080/15358593.2017.1293837
- Griffin, K.A., & Gilbert, C.K. (2015). Better transitions for troops: An application of Schlossberg's transition framework to analyses of barriers and institutional support structures for student veterans. *Journal of Higher Education*, 86(1), 71 97. Doi: 10.1080/00221546.2015.11777357
- Guardado, M. (2018). Discourse, ideology and heritage language socialization: Micro and macro perspectives. Walter de Gruyter GmbH & Co KG.
- Gumbel, J. D. (1987). An evaluation of the Selected Reserve Educational Assistance Program (SREAP) as it relates to the Selected Marine Corps Reserve (SMCR). Naval Postgraduate School Monterey Ca.
- Hammond, S. (2015). Complex perceptions of identity: The experience of student combat veterans in community college. *Community College Journal of Research and Practice*, 40(2), 146 159.
- Hayden, S., Ledwith, K., Dong, S., & Buzzetta, M. (2014). Assessing the career development needs of student veterans: A proposal for career interventions. *Professional Counselor*, 4(2), 129-138. doi:10.15241/sh.4.2.129

- Hayes, A. F., & Matthes, J. (2014). Self-censorship, the spiral of silence, and contemporary political communication. *Oxford Handbooks Online*, 6-38. https://doi.org/10.1093/oxfordhb/9780199793471.013.31
- Heineman, J. A. (2016). From boots to suits: Women veterans transitioning to community college students (Doctoral dissertation, San Diego State University).
- Hill, C. B., Kurzweil, M., Pisacreta, E. D., & Schwartz, E. (2019, January 10). Enrolling More Veterans at High-Graduation-Rate Colleges and Universities. https://doi.org/10.18665/sr.310816
- Hinderaker, A. (2014). Severing primary ties: Exit from totalistic organizations. *Western Journal of Communication*, 79(1). doi:10.1080/10570314.2014.943422
- Hinderaker, A., & O'Connor, A. (2015). The long road out: Exit stories from the Church of Jesus Christ of Latter-Day Saints. *Communication Studies*, 66(5), 509-527.
- Howard, K. (2014). Language socialization. Oxford Bibliographies, Anthropology. Oxford Press. doi:10.1093/OBO/9780199766567-0111.
- Howe, W. T., & Hinderaker, A. (2018). "The rule was the rule": New member socialization in rigidly structured totalistic organizations. *Atlantic Journal of Communication*, 26(3), 180-195.
- Howe, W. T., & Shpeer, M. (2019). From military member to student: An examination of the communicative challenges of veterans to perform communication accommodation in the University. *Journal of Intercultural Communication Research*, 48(3), 203-220. https://doi.org/10.1080/17475759.2019.1592770
- Hu, S. (2011). Reconsidering the relationship between student engagement and persistence in college. *Innovative Higher Education*, *36*(2), 97-106.
- Hunter-Johnson, Y., Liu, T., Murray, K., Niu, Y., & Suprise, M. (2020). Higher education as a tool for veterans in transition: Battling the challenges. *The Journal of Continuing Higher Education*, 69(1), 1-18. https://doi.org/10.1080/07377363.2020.1743621
- Ince, J., Finlay, B. M., & Rojas, F. (2018). College campus activism: Distinguishing between liberal reformers and conservative crusaders. *Sociology Compass*, 12(9), e12603.
- Itzhaky, L., Avidor, S., & Solomon, Z. (2017). Long-term guilt and hostility underlying post-traumatic stress symptoms in war combatants and ex-prisoners of war. *Journal of Loss and Trauma*, 22(3), 228-239.

- Ivankova, N. V., Creswell, J. W., & Stick, S. L. (2006). Using mixed-methods sequential explanatory design: From theory to practice. *Field Methods*, *18*(1), 3-20. https://doi.org/10.1177/1525822x05282260
- Jacobs, A. M. (2014). The construction of 'language' as a constitutive meaning of institutional culture. *South African Journal of Higher Education*, 28(2), 466-483. doi:10.20853/28-2-342
- Jones, K. C. (2017). Understanding transition experiences of combat veterans attending community college. *Community College Journal of Research and Practice*, 41(2), 107-123.
- Jordan, A. T. (2019). Soldier to student: Understanding the transition experiences of veterans from the military to community college. ProQuest Dissertations Publishing.
- Kartal, D., & Kiropoulos, L. (2016). Effects of acculturative stress on PTSD, depressive, and anxiety symptoms among refugees resettled in Australia and Austria. *European Journal of Psychotraumatology*. https://doi.org/10.3402/ejpt.v7.28711
- Kim, Y. M., & Cole, J. S. (2013). Student veterans/service members' engagement in college and university life and education. http://www.acenet.edu/news-room/Documents/Student-Veterans-Service-Members-Engagement.pdf
- Koenig, C. J., Maguen, S., Monroy, J. D., Mayott, L., & Seal, K. H. (2014). Facilitating culture-centered communication between health care providers and veterans transitioning from military deployment to civilian life. *Patient Education and Counseling*, 95(3), 414-420.
- Ladha, T., Zubairi, M., Hunter, A., Audcent, T., & Johnstone, J. (2018). Cross-cultural communication: Tools for working with families and children. *Paediatrics & Child Health*, 23(1), 66-69. https://doi.org/10.1093/pch/pxx126
- Landrum, S. H. (2018). Difficulties Encountered by Enlisted Army and Marine Corps Veterans when Entering Community College after Separation from the Military: A Q-Methodological Study. ProQuest Dissertations Publishing.
- Lang, W.A. & Powers, J.T. (2011). Completing the mission: A pilot study of veteran student progress towards degree attainment in the Post 9/11 era. *Pat Tillman Foundation*. Harrell, M. C., & Berglass, N. (2012). Employing America's Veterans. Center for a New American Security.
- Larson, E. J. (1990). A comparative study of the military veteran students at Lewis-Clark State College with those attending Idaho's universities and a general population

- of students attending institutions in other states. ProQuest Dissertations Publishing University of Idaho.
- Lavrakas, P. (2008). Encyclopedia of survey research methods. Sage Publications. https://doi.org/10.4135/9781412963947
- Lim, J. H., Tkacik, P. T., Iteriano, C. G., Dahlberg Jr., J. L., & Nowell, C. E. (2016). Engineering as a pathway to reintegration: Student veterans' transition experience into higher education and civilian society. In *Proceedings of the ASEE Annual Conference & Exposition* (pp. 26-29).
- Livingston, W. G., & Bauman, M. C. (2013). Activations, deployments, and returns. In F. A. Hamrick, C. B. Rumann, & Associates. (Eds.), *Called to serve: A handbook on student veterans and higher education* (pp. 41–68). Jossey-Bass.
- Lønsmann, D. (2017). A catalyst for change: Language socialization and norm negotiation in a transient multilingual workplace. *Journal of Linguistic Anthropology*, 27(3), 326-343. https://doi.org/10.1111/jola.12162
- McBain, L., Kim, Y.M., Cook, B.J., & Snead, K.M. (2012). From soldier to student II: Assessing campus programs for veterans and service members. *Washington, DC: American Council on Education*. https://www.aascu.org/WorkArea/DownloadAsset.aspx?id=5505
- Medley, J., Cheney, A. M., Abraham, T., Grubbs, K., Hunt, J., Lu, L., Fortney, J. C., & Curran, G. M. (2016, November 30). *The impact of the psychological sequela of trauma on veterans seeking higher education*. Journal of Postsecondary Education and Disability. Retrieved February 17, 2022, from https://eric.ed.gov/?id=EJ1144620
- Mercer, C., & Skinner, R. P. (2008). Montgomery GI Bill education benefits: Analysis of college prices and federal student aid under the Higher Education Act. *No Child Left Behind: Issues and Developments. New York, NY: Nova Science Publishers*.
- Milliken, C. S., Auchterlonie, J. L., & Hoge, C. W. (2007). Longitudinal assessment of mental health problems among active and reserve component soldiers returning from the Iraq war. *Jama*, 298(18), 2141-2148.
- Moon, T. L., & Schma, G. A. (2011). A proactive approach to serving military and veteran students. *New Directions for Higher Education*, 153, 53-60. doi:10.1002/he.426

- Moore, S. (2019). Language and identity in an Indigenous teacher education program. *International Journal of Circumpolar Health*, 78(2), 1506213. https://doi.org/10.1080/22423982.2018.1506213
- Morris, P., Albanesi, H. P., & Cassidy, S. (2019). Student-veterans' perceptions of barriers, support, and environment at a high-density veteran enrollment campus. *Journal of Veterans Studies*, 4(2), 180. https://doi.org/10.21061/jvs.v4i2.102
- National Center for Education Statistics (NCES). (2020, March). Veterans' Education Benefits: A Profile of Military Students Who Received Federal Veterans' Education Benefits in 2015–16. National Center for Education Statistics (NCES), a part of the US Department of Education. https://nces.ed.gov/pubs2020/2020488rev.pdf
- National Institute of Mental Health. (2019). *NIMH » suicide*. NIMH » Home. https://www.nimh.nih.gov/health/statistics/suicide
- Nicassio, P. M., & Saral, T. (1978). The role of personality in intercultural communication. *Annals of the International Communication Association*, 2(1), 345-350. https://www.tandfonline.com/doi/abs/10.1080/23808985.1978.11923734
- Ochs, E., & Bambi B. S. (2012). The theory of language socialization. In A. Duranti, E. Ochs, & B. Schieffelin (Eds.), *The handbook of language socialization* (pp. 1-21). Wiley-Blackwell.
- Ochs, E., & Schieffelin, B. (2008). Language socialization: An historical overview. In P.A. Duff and N.H. Hornberger (Eds.), Encyclopedia of language education (2nd ed.), Vol. 8, Language Socialization (pp. 3-15). New York: Springer.
- O'Herrin, E. (2011). Enhancing veteran success in higher education. *Peer Review, 13*(1), 15-18. Retrieved from https://www.aacu.org/
- Olsen, T., Badger, K., & McCuddy, M.D. (2014). Understanding the student veterans' college experience: An exploratory study. *Army Medical Department Journal*, 4, 101 108. https://www.cs.amedd.army.mil/amed_journal.aspx
- Osborne, N. J. (2013). Veteran ally: Practical strategies for closing the military-civilian gap on campus. *Innovative Higher Education*, *39*(3), 247-260. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10755-013-9274-z
- Ou, W. A., & Gu, M. M. (2018). Language socialization and identity in intercultural communication: Experience of Chinese students in a transnational university in China. *International Journal of Bilingual Education and Bilingualism*, 24(3), 419-434. https://doi.org/10.1080/13670050.2018.1472207

- Palinkas, L. A., Horwitz, S. M., Green, C. A., Wisdom, J. P., Duan, N., & Hoagwood, K. (2015). Purposeful sampling for qualitative data collection and analysis in mixed method implementation research. *Administration and Policy in Mental Health and Mental Health Services Research*, 42(5), 533-544.
- Palinkas, L. A., Horwitz, S. M., Green, C. A., Wisdom, J. P., Duan, N., & Hoagwood, K. (2013). Purposeful sampling for qualitative data collection and analysis in mixed method implementation research. *Administration and Policy in Mental Health and Mental Health Services Research*, 42(5), 533-544. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10488-013-0528-y
- Park, Y. J. (2011). Presentation of social identity and language use among bilingual Korean English speakers. University of California, San Diego.
- Pellegrin, J. (2013). The veteran's view. *About Campus*, 17(6), 16-21. doi:10.1002/abc.21101
- Perkins, D. F., Aronson, K. R., Morgan, N. R., Bleser, J. A., Vogt, D., Copeland, L. A., Finley, E. P., & Gilman, C. (2019). Veterans' use of programs and services as they transition to civilian life: Baseline assessment for the veteran metrics initiative. *Journal of Social Service Research*, 46(2), 241-255. https://doi.org/10.1080/01488376.2018.1546259
- PNPI. (2019, November 9). Veterans in higher education. PNPI—The Postsecondary National Policy Institute. https://pnpi.org/veterans-in-higher-education/
- Poth, C., Riedel, A., & Luth, R. (2015). Framing student perspectives into the higher education institutional review policy process. *Canadian Journal of Higher Education*, 45(4), 361-382. Retrieved from http://journals.sfu.ca/cjhe/index.php/cjhe
- Radford, A. W. (2009). Military service members and veterans in higher education: What the new GI Bill may mean for postsecondary institutions. American Council on Education.
- Ramayah, T., Ahmad, N. H., Halim, H. A., Zainal, S. R. M., & Lo, M. C. (2010). Discriminant analysis: An illustrated example. *African Journal of Business Management*, 4(9), 1654-1667.
- Rassokha, M. (2010). Language identity: Issues of theory and practice. *Asian Englishes*, 13(1), 20-33.
- Richardson, T. M., Ruckert, J. M., & Marion, J. W. (2015). Planning for veterans' success: The degree map as an advising solution. *Online Learning*, 19(1), 64-80. doi:10.24059/olj.v19i1.494

- Rovira, L. C. (2008). The relationship between language and identity. The use of the home language as a human right of the immigrant. *REMHU-Revista Interdisciplinar da Mobilidade Humana*, *16*(31), 63-81.
- Rumann, C. B., & Hamrick, F. A. (2009). Supporting student veterans in transition. *New Directions for Student Services*, 126, 25-34.
- Schecter, S. R., & Bayley, R. (2004). Language socialization in theory and practice. *International Journal of Qualitative Studies in Education*, 17(5), 605-625.
- Schiavone, V., & Gentry, D. (2014). Veteran-students in transition at a midwestern University. *The Journal of Continuing Higher Education*, 62(1), 29-38. https://doi.org/10.1080/07377363.2014.872007
- Servicemen's Readjustment Act of 1944, S. 1767, 103d Cong., 1st Sess. (1944).
- Simon, M. K., & Goes, J. (2013). Scope, limitations, and delimitations, Sage, 259-269. https://ders.es/limitationscopedelimitation1.pdf
- Smith-Osborne, A. M. (2012). Supporting resilience in the academic setting for student soldiers and veterans as an aspect of community reintegration: The design of the student veteran project study. *Advances in Social Work Research*, 13, 34–50.
- Lee, J., & Bucholtz, M. (2015). Language socialization across learning spaces. In *Handbook of Classroom Discourse and Interaction. UC Santa Barbara*. https://escholarship.org/uc/item/4h89b3z0
- Stebleton, M., & Soria, K. (2012). Breaking down barriers: academic obstacles of first-generation students at research universities. *The Learning Assistance Review*, 17(2), 7.
- Steele, J. L., Salcedo, N., & Coley, J. (2010). Service members in school: Military veterans' experiences using the Post-9/11 GI Bill and pursuing postsecondary education.: RAND.
- Surtees, A. D., Butterfill, S. A., & Apperly, I. A. (2012). Direct and indirect measures of level-2 perspective-taking in children and adults. *British Journal of Developmental Psychology*, 30(1), 75-86.
- Swick, D., Honzel, N., & Turken, U. (2015). Intact error monitoring in combat veterans with post-traumatic stress disorder. *Psychiatry Research*. *Neuroimaging*, 234(2), 227-238. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pscychresns.2015.09.016
- Tashakkori, A., & Teddlie, C. (Eds.). (2003). Handbook on mixed methods in the behavioral and social sciences. Sage Publications.

- Teherani, A., Martimianakis, T., Stenfors-Hayes, T., Wadhwa, A., & Varpio, L. (2015). Choosing a qualitative research approach. *Journal of Graduate Medical Education*, 7(4), 669-670.
- Theofanidis, D., & Fountouki, A. (2018). Limitations and delimitations in the research process. *Perioperative Nursing*, 7(3), 155-163.
- Tuffour, I. (2017). A critical overview of interpretative phenomenological analysis: A contemporary qualitative research approach. *Journal of Healthcare Communications*, 2(4), 52.
- US Department of Veterans Affairs, Veterans Benefits Administration. (2011). The Montgomery GI Bill-Active duty (pp. 1-55). Veterans Benefit Administration.
- US Census Bureau. (2018, December 11). *More than 76 million students enrolled in US schools*. The United States Census Bureau. https://www.census.gov/newsroom/press-releases/2018/school-enrollment.html
- Veterans Readjustment Benefits Act of 1966, S. 1767, 103d Cong., 1st Sess. (1966).
- Villegas-Torres, P., & Mora-Pablo, I. (2018). The role of language in the identity formation of transnational EFL teachers. *HOW*, 25(2), 11-27. https://doi.org/10.19183/how.25.2.418
- Wands, L. (2013). "No one gets through it OK": The health challenge of coming home from war. *Advances in Nursing Science*, *36*(3), 186-199.
- Wipulanusat, W., Panuwatwanich, K., Stewart, R. A., & Sunkpho, J. (2020). Applying mixed methods sequential explanatory design to innovation management. In The 10th International Conference on Engineering, Project, and Production Management (pp. 485-495). Springer, Singapore.
- Wolf, K., Milburn, T., & Wilkins, R. (2008). Expressive practices: The local enactment of culture in the communication classroom. *Business Communication Quarterly*, 71(2), 171–183.
- Young, S. L., & Phillips, G. A. (2019). Veterans' adjustment to college: A qualitative analysis of large-scale survey data. *College Student Affairs Journal*, *37*(1), 39-53. https://doi.org/10.1353/csj.2019.0003

$\label{eq:APPENDIX} \mbox{A}$ IRB APPROVAL LETTER



EXEMPTION GRANTED

Aya Matsuda CLAS-H: English 480/965-7504 Aya Matsuda@asu.edu

Dear Aya Matsuda:

On 6/4/2021 the ASU IRB reviewed the following protocol:

Type of Review:	Initial Study
Title:	Understanding the Challenges of Academic Language Use as Veterans Transition to Civilian Life in Higher Education
Investigator:	Aya Matsuda
IRB ID:	STUDY00014059
Funding:	None
Grant Title:	None
Grant ID:	None
Documents Reviewed:	consent form survey.pdf, Category: Consent Form; Interview consent form.pdf, Category: Consent Form; IRB Social Behavioral completed form.docx, Category: IRB Protocol; Pat Tillman VC Assistant Director email of willing to work with me.pdf, Category: Other; Recruitment email.pdf, Category: Recruitment Materials; Survey questions and Interview questions.pdf, Category: Measures (Survey questions/Interview questions /interview guides/focus group questions);

The IRB determined that the protocol is considered exempt pursuant to Federal Regulations 45CFR46 (2) Tests, surveys, interviews, or observation on 6/4/2021.

In conducting this protocol you are required to follow the requirements listed in the INVESTIGATOR MANUAL (HRP-103).

If any changes are made to the study, the IRB must be notified at research.integrity@asu.edu to determine if additional reviews/approvals are required. Changes may include but not limited to revisions to data collection, survey and/or interview questions, and vulnerable populations, etc.

Sincerely,

IRB Administrator

ce: Naji Obaid

Naji Obaid

APPENDIX B

INTERVIEW CONSENT FORM



Interview Consent Form

Understanding Veterans' Experience in Higher Education

My name is Naji Obaid and I am a veteran graduate student under the direction of Professor Aya Matsuda in the Department of English at Arizona State University (ASU). I am conducting a research study to explore veterans' experience at ASU. I would like to invite you for an in-person interview that is expected to last 45-60 minutes. However, you are under no obligation to participate. I would also like to audio record this interview, with your permission. Please let me know if you do not want the interview to be recorded. You may also change your mind after the interview starts. Just let me know. The videos will be used for internal use only.

The main benefit of participating in this study is that, as a veteran, you may benefit from reflecting on your transition back to civilian life as a university student and from having your experiences heard. You may find it therapeutic to recount your experiences in the military and your transition to civilian life as an undergraduate student at ASU. The insights you contribute can also be used to design programs to better assist veteran students with the transition at ASU and other universities in the US.

There are no foreseeable risks or discomforts associated with your participation. However, if the interview does raise traumatic memories, I am happy to provide you with resources from both on- and off-campus to address any distress you experience.

All audio recording files for the interviews will be stored in a secure password-protected computer and online server. I will assign pseudonyms or participant numbers to each person. The results of the study may be used in journal articles, but your name will not be used. De-identified data collected as a part of the current study will not be shared with other investigators for future research purposes. However, providing email will help me to contact the participant for the interview process only.

If you have any questions concerning the research study, please contact Dr. Aya Matsuda (aya.matsuda@asu.edu) or Naji Obaid (nobaid@asu.edu).

This research has been reviewed and approved by the Social Behavioral Institutional Review Board (IRB) of Arizona State University. You may talk to IRB staff at (480) 965-6788 or by email at research integrity@asu.edu if:

- · Your questions, concerns, or complaints are not being answered by the research team.
- You cannot reach the research team.
- · You want to talk to someone besides the research team.
- You have questions about your rights as a research participant.
- You want to get information or provide input about this research.

By signing below, you are agreeing to be part of the study.

	Page 2 of 2
Your signature documents your permission to take part in this research	arch.
Signature of participant	Date
Printed name of participant	
Signature of person obtaining consent	Date

Printed name of person obtaining consent

Document Revision Date: September 13, 2021

$\begin{array}{c} \text{APPENDIX C} \\ \text{SURVEY LETTER} \end{array}$

Hello,

My name is Naji Obaid, and I am a PhD candidate in the Department of Linguistics and Applied Linguistics at Arizona State University (ASU). I am writing to let you know about an opportunity to participate in a research study about veterans' experience in higher education. As a fellow veteran attending ASU, sharing your experience can offer insights into the challenges veterans face while transitioning from military life into civilian life in general and in the higher education context in particular.

Your identity will be completely anonymous throughout the research process. The survey is expected to take 10-15 minutes to complete.

Please consider participating if:

- You are 18 years of age or older,
- You are an undergraduate student veteran of any branch of the United States armed forces, and
- You have taken at least one course at ASU

Please click on this link to complete the survey: <u>Start Survey</u>

If you have any questions about the study, please contact me at nobaid@asu.edu.

Thanks for your consideration and thank you for your service!

Sincerely, Naji Obaid

APPENDIX D SURVEY QUESTIONS

Background

1.	What is your gender?		
	0	Male	
	0	Female	
	0	Other	
2.	Wl	nat is your age?	
	0	18-24 years old	
	0	25-34 years old	
	0	35-44 years old	
	0	45-54 years old	
	0	55 and older	
3.	Wl	nat is your branch of service?	
3.		hat is your branch of service? Army	
3.	0		
3.	0	Army	
3.	0 0	Army Air Force	
3.	0 0 0	Army Air Force Marine Corps	
3.	0 0 0	Army Air Force Marine Corps Navy	
	0 0 0 0	Army Air Force Marine Corps Navy	
	0000Let	Army Air Force Marine Corps Navy Coast Guard	
	oooo	Army Air Force Marine Corps Navy Coast Guard ngth of military service?	

	o 12-2	0 years			
	0 20-4	0 years			
5.	How ma	ny semesters ha	ve you attended A	rizona State U	niversity?
6.	What is	your major?			
7.	Do you l	have prior colleg	ge experience befo	re serving in th	ne military?
	YesNo				
8.	Are you	willing to be cal	lled for an intervie	ew? It is option	al and voluntary to
	be called	l for 10-15 minu	tes interview.		
	o Yes				
	o No				
Academic	Experie	nce and Langua	age Use		
			ing classes at ASU	J was a big adj	justment for me.
Strongly Disagree		Disagree	Undecided	Agree	Strongly Agre
2.		tarting classes, I	wondered if I had	l enough acade	emic skills and

Agree

Undecided

Strongly Agree

Strongly

Disagree

Disagree

3. I am confident that I am using appropriate academic vocabulary in my classes.						
Strongly	Disagre	e Undecided	d Agree	Strongly Agree		
Disagree						
	L					
4.	I often ask my in	structor for clarification	ation during a le	ecture.		
Strongly	Disagre	e Undecided	d Agree	Strongly Agree		
Disagree						
5.	I generally under	stand academic cor	ncepts in written	texts for my classes.		
Strongly	Disagre	e Undecided	d Agree	Strongly Agree		
Disagree						
6.	6. My non-veteran classmates understand the comments I make in class.					
Strongly	Disagre	e Undecided	d Agree	Strongly Agree		
Disagree						
7.	7. I often worry that my comments in class discussions are not clear to non-veteran students.					
Strongly	Disagre	e Undecided	d Agree	Strongly Agree		
Disagree						
8.	8. My experiences as a veteran are relevant to my role as a student.					
Strongly	Disagre	e Undecided	d Agree	Strongly Agree		
Disagree						

9.	O. I often communicate with my instructor during class.					
Strongly		Disagree	Undecided	Agree	Strongly Agree	
Disagree						
10.	I often co	ommunicate wit	h my instructor ou	tside of class (by	email, during	
	office ho	ours, or in some	other form).			
				T		
Strongly		Disagree	Undecided	Agree	Strongly Agree	
Disagree						
11.	I often sr	oeak to fellow st	tudents during clas	s, either to discus	s course material	
	-	e informal conv		-,		
Strongly		Disagree	Undecided	Agree	Strongly Agree	
Disagree						
12	Loften co	ommunicate wit	h fellow students (outside of class e	ther to discuss	
12.	12. I often communicate with fellow students outside of class, either to discuss course material or to have informal conversations.					
	course in	idicitat of to hav	e informat conver	sations.		
Strongly		Disagree	Undecided	Agree	Strongly Agree	
Disagree						
13. I am comfortable bringing up my military experiences as part of class						
discussions about academic topics.						
discussions about academic topics.						
Strongly		Disagree	Undecided	Agree	Strongly Agree	
Disagree						
			•	•		

14. I am comfortable sharing academic concerns with my instructor.

Strongly			<u> </u>			
Suongry	Disagree	Undecided	Agree	Strongly Agree		
Disagree						
15. I am comfortable sharing veteran-related matters with my instructor (such as doctors' appointments or how my service has impacted my learning needs).						
Strongly	Disagree	Undecided	Agree	Strongly Agree		
Disagree						
16. I fee	el included in class	discussions.	·			
Strongly	Disagree	Undecided	Agree	Strongly Agree		
Disagree						
17. I co	mmunicate effectiv	vely in class				
Strongly Disagree	Disagree	Undecided	Agree	Strongly Agree		
Disagree Identity as a V	Disagree	Undecided	Agree	Strongly Agree		
Disagree Identity as a V 18. I stre	Disagree Teteran ongly identify as a	Undecided veteran.				
Disagree Identity as a V	Disagree	Undecided	Agree	Strongly Agree Strongly Agree		
Disagree Identity as a V 18. I stro Strongly Disagree	Disagree Teteran Ongly identify as a Disagree	Undecided veteran. Undecided	Agree			
Disagree Identity as a V 18. I stro Strongly Disagree	Disagree Teteran Ongly identify as a Disagree	Undecided veteran. Undecided	Agree	Strongly Agree		

situation	ı .				
Strongly	Disagree	Undecided	Agree	Strongly Agree	
Disagree					
21. I often sl	hare my veteran	status with my ins	tructors.		
Strongly	Disagree	Undecided	Agree	Strongly Agree	
Disagree					
	,				
22. I ofte	en share my vete	ran status with my	classmates.		
Strongly	Disagree	Undecided	Agree	Strongly Agree	
Disagree					
23. I often search out and use services on campus that are designed to serve veterans.					
Strongly	Disagree	Undecided	Agree	Strongly Agree	
Disagree			1-8		

20. I am comfortable publicly identifying as a veteran on campus in every

APPENDIX E INTERVIEW QUESTIONS

Interview Questions:

What was your experience like enrolling for classes at ASU as a veteran?

Possible follow-up if the participant doesn't mention any challenges in language use:

Did you encounter any challenges in language use?

Have you ever felt that you did not possess the language skills to adequately participate in an academic conversation in your class?

Possible follow-up if the participant did not possess the language skills:

How did you overcome this type of challenge?

Have you ever felt that your use of military language caused a conflict or misunderstanding with a classmate?

Follow-up if unclear: Was it in class or other situations?

Follow-up if unclear: Was it with a veteran student or non-veteran student?

Follow-up if they only talk about one setting/population and you want them to talk about other things to: That's interesting! What about X? Have you experienced something similar with Y?

Have you ever felt that your use of military language caused a conflict or misunderstanding with your instructor?

Follow-up question if answering Yes: Tell me a time when using military language caused you a conflict.

How did you overcome this conflict?

Did you learn the X technique to overcome this conflict while in service or in classroom?

Follow-up question if answering No: Is that because you know the academic language and how to speak to your professor?

Have you ever tried to have a conversation about your veteran status with a classmate?

If they answer Yes: How did that conversation go?

If they answer No: Tell me why.

Have you ever tried to have a conversation about your veteran status with your instructor?

If they answer Yes: How did that conversation go?

Have you ever used services on campus that are designed specifically for veterans? If so, please describe your experiences.